
 

Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday, February 5th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the February 5th, 2024, Regular Meeting of The Lyman Select Board. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded. 
 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 
ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS  

a. Historical Society Presents – How Lyman Got Its Name 
 

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.  

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others 
b. Mail  •York County Sheriff’s Monthly Report (2) •SMPDC Letter  •Red Cross Letter  •Insider Bulletin 

         •York County Commissioners Letter   •Maine Public Letter 
 
ITEM #3 MINUTES 

a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 1/2/2024 
b. Review / Approve meeting minutes 1/18/2024 

 
ITEM #4  SIGN WARRANTS  

a. Payroll Warrant #28 in the amount of $32,337.96 
b. Payroll Warrant #29 in the amount of $29,726.91 
c. Accounts Payable Warrant #30 (FY2024) in the amount of $655,296.29 

 
ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

a. Open Sealed Bids – Waste Hauling 
b. Open Sealed Bids – Aerial Mapping Services  
c. Franchise Agreement, Discuss next steps, Updates from Tony/Brad. Tabled from last meeting – 

Schedule Public Hearing for Ordinance Amendments 
d. MDOT Request approval for transporting materials, project on Rt 202, Updates attached 
e. Cemetery Committee – Updates from Cemetery Committee 
f. Discuss chain of communications 

 
ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS  

a. Road Commissioner –  
b. Fire Chief –  
c. CEO – Quarterly Report 
d. Tax Collector – Monthly Report 
e. Bunganut Park Committee –  
f. Comprehensive Plan Committee – Updates from Committee 
g. Treasurer –  Expense Report 
h. Town Manager – Progress Report 
i. Planning Board – Quarterly Report 
j. Other  -  

 
ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 

a. Appoint Warden for March 5th, Election 
b. Discuss Agenda format changes 
c. Discuss Bunganut booth repairs  
d. Review draft Personnel Policy 
e. Review/ Vote on Resignation submitted 



 

f. Review Committee Applicant – ORC (2 applicants) 
g. Review Committee Applicant – ZBA (1 applicant) 
h. Review Appointment of PB Member  
i. Review/Approve Resolution to manage accounts policy 

 
 

OTHER 
 

EXCECUTIVE SESSION 
  
ADJOURN 



ITEM #2: (b.) Mail















32 N Prospect St 2 Maitland St 2401 Congress St  
Burlington, VT 05401 Concord, NH 03301 Portland, ME 04101 

www.redcross.org/nne 
American Red Cross of Northern New England 

January 11, 2024 

Town of Lyman 
Attn: Select Board 
11 So. Waterboro Rd 
Lyman, ME 04002 

Dear Members of the Select Board, 

As we look ahead to the new year, we take a moment to reflect on our profound gratitude to the 
municipal partners who help us deliver our lifesaving mission in our community. With your 
support, we are able to ensure the health, safety, and preparedness of our friends and neighbors 
throughout Northern New England. 

Last year, our staff and volunteer workforce provided an array of services throughout the 
Northern New England region:  

 We made 700 homes safer by installing 2,177 smoke detectors and educating 897
families about fire safety and prevention through our Home Fire Campaign.

 Trained 42,950 people in first aid, CPR, and water safety skills. (training data for
county level)

 We collected over 133,100 units of blood. Hospitals throughout Northern New
England depend on the American Red Cross for these collections.

 In our region, over 3,400 service members, veterans, and their families received
supportive services through our Service to the Armed Forces department.

Your American Red Cross remains committed to providing relief and support. We do this with 
the help of our incredible volunteers and donors, including you, our friends in Lyman. This 
year, we respectfully request a municipal appropriation of $1,000.00. These funds will 
directly benefit individuals and families right here in our region, who benefit from our unique 
services at no cost. 

For more information about the work we’ve been doing in your area, please refer to the attached 
Service Delivery sheet for York County. If you have any questions, please call us at 1-800-464-
6692 or supportnne@redcross.org.  

Warmly, 

Lauren Jordan 
Development Coordinator 



��������	 
������������ ������������������ � ����� !" # $� ���%&�� ' �'��()&� * ��+� &) , *-&�� .�/��)�� � 01����2��" * 31 ))��4 � ,5�26�&� � #5 7�� !" � �

�8��9������	�:���;�
����	<��	�=>�?@??�A�<���B@>�?@?B

CDEF�GHDIJ�KHL�MINEE�EFDOODPL�QNRSPFHHIE�TNIUHLFVINSWVNSF�XNIU�MNSPFG�FNHLSYDFH�IHEZLHPFE�NP�OZIHJEDOHFG�DPL�[IH[DIHLPHEE\]H�̂DLH�_̀�abcde�efgdh�iGVHR[ZPW�OD̂ ZRZHE�LHQHRN[Ĥ HIWHPYG�HQDYSDFZNP�[RDPE\
j�k�l�����km��n� ]H�YNRRHYFHL�opqor�[ZPFE�NORZOHEDQZPW�iRNNL�DF�_s_�LIZQHE�ZPXNIU�MNSPFG\t�����
����

XNIU�MNSPFG�ZE�VN̂ H�FN�__q�ucdhvwfxydz�{hbee�|b}~x�ddhe\�]H�VDQHQNRSPFHHIE�OIN̂ �DRR�TDRUE�NO�RZOHJ�TVNDIH�FIDZPHL�DPL�Ĥ [NTHIHL�FN�IHE[NPLFN�LZEDEFHIE�ZP�FVH�̂ZLLRH�NO�FVH�PZWVFJFN�FHDYV�EDOHFG�YNSIEHEJ�FN�VHR[�DF�NSI^DPG�iRNNL�LIZQHEJ�DPL�EN�̂SYV�̂NIH\�VH��̂ HIZYDP�KHL�MINEE�ZE�[INSL�FVDF����NO�ZFE�EFDOO�ZE�̂DLH�S[�NOQNRSPFHHIE��FVHG�DIH�FISRG�FVH�VHDIF�DPLENSR�NO�NSI�NIWDPZ�DFZNP\

�������n�:���;�CDEF�GHDIJ�_p�sq��bh��{b~x��hdevzdx�e�THIH�FDSWVF�D�QDIZHFG�NOẐ[NIFDPF�RZOHEDQZPW�EUZRRE�ESYV�DE�ZIEF��ZLJ�M�KJ��DiGEZFFZPW��UZRREDPL�]DFHI��DOHFG\���������:���;�]H�[INSLRG�DEEZEFHL�_���NO��bh��{b~x���e��dh�vwd�dc�dhep��d�dhfxep�fxz��advhgfcv}vde�iG�[INQZLZPWĤ HIWHPYG�YN̂ ^SPZYDFZNPEDPL�NFVHI�EHIQZYHEJ�ZPYRSLZPWYNSPEHRZPW�DPL�OZPDPYZDRDEEZEFDPYH\�
:���;���������k��l��;�


���������m����P�FVH�[DEF�GHDIJ�FVH��̂ HIZYDP�KHL�MINEE�VDE�IHE[NPLHL�FN�s��zvefe�dh�wfede�ZP��bh��{b~x��J�[INQZLZPWDEEZEFDPYH�FN�_���vxzv�vz~f}e\��NEF�YN̂ ^NPRGJ�FVHEH�ZPYZLHPFE�THIH�VN̂ H�OZIHE\�KHL�MINEE�TNIUHIE�THIH�NPFVH�EYHPH�FN�[INQZLH�ONNLJ�YRNFVZPWJ�RNLWZPWJ�Ĥ NFZNPDR�ES[[NIFJ�DPL�̂NIH�FN�OD̂ ZRZHE�LSIZPW�FVHZI�VNSIE�NOWIHDFHEF�PHHL\��SI�FHD̂ E�DREN�[INQZLH��DEE�MDIH�FN�OZIEF�IHE[NPLHIE\��VZPWE�RZUH�ONNLJ�TDFHIJ�DPL�TDÎLIZPUE�EFIHPWFVHP�FVH�iIDQH�[HN[RH�NO�GNSI�RNYDR��ZIH�DPL��NRZYH��H[DIF̂HPFE�DE�FVHG�DPETHI�FVH�YDRR�FN�UHH[GNSI�IHEZLHPFE�EDOH\�� ��������	 
������������ �����������5476� � *�&�)������ !" � *�&�)�� 6)��2&�& � ,¡!�6��¢6�" � �¡���¡�!�6�����6!� * *¢6�.&�.% ��� � ,£6!& , *£6�%&�� ' �' �.)����% ��� � �



 Message from: 

         Sheriff William L. King Jr. 

This past quarter experienced unusually mild weather. The snow 
held off and many in our patrol areas were able to continue their 
normal activities. The Sheriff’s Office successfully completed a 
Department of Labor Inspection, and except for a few minor 
things, we fared very well. 

Staffing continues to be a challenge in all areas of the Sheriff’s 
Office. We experienced two resignations in Patrol, losing one to 
corporate security and the other to the military. We had a few 
resignations in Corrections, which is normal because it is an en-
try level position, and some find the work not suitable. We did 
have one long time Corrections Supervisor resign to fulfill his 
lifelong ambition of being a municipal police officer. The Civil 
Division is continually searching for suitable individuals to serve 
Civil Process Paperwork. 

On a brighter note, we hired two outstanding deputies and a 
plethora of new corrections officers, all anxious to commence 
their new careers. The Sheriff’s Office obtained three COPS 
Grants to hire three School Resource officers for area schools. 
We are in negotiations with MSAD 60 as well as two other school 
districts to hire for those positions – which presents the challenge 
of finding suitable deputies to fill those crucial positions. 

We had a Patrol Inspection in which everybody got together to 
check equipment and to discuss things of mutual interest. In a 
rural patrol setting, deputies commence their patrols from their 
residence and there may not be a need to come to the station – 
an all-hands meeting provides management with an opportunity 
to catch up with our amazing staff. 

Some other activities include: 
· A collaboration with McCoy Trucking and Excavation to host the
second annual “Trunk or Treat” at the Alfred Courthouse.
· The Board of Visitors teamed up with the Jail Ministry from St.
Theresa’s to collect gifts for inmate’s children.
· The “Rock my Soul” music ministry performed a Christmas Spe-
cial for the residents of the Jail. It was a huge hit!

Thank you for taking the time to read through this bulletin! 

October-December 2023 Volume 4 

Employee 

Spotlight 

Stacy Thistlewood is presently the York 
County Sheriff's Office Administrative 
Assistant and has been employed by 
our agency since May 2002. She was 
first hired in the civil department before 
moving to the patrol side in 2004. Stacy 
has a bachelor's degree in graphic communications from 
Franklin Pierce University with a minor in Fine Arts.  

Stacy was instrumental in transitioning the Sheriff's Office from 
the Uniform Crime Reporting (UCR) system to the National 
Incident-Based Reporting System in 2020. She has numerous 
other roles at the Sheriff's Office which include submitting re-
ports to the court for arraignments, by utilizing the Citrix com-
puter system, she completes FOAA requests from the public, 
submits NIBRS reports to the FBI and archives all of the depu-
ty’s reports.  She also completes the weekly bulletin for patrol, 
answers phone calls from the public, and assists community 
members that enter our facility. Stacy is also the architect and 
brains behind the quarterly bulletin, which has drawn rave 
reviews from our various stakeholders.  Most importantly, Sta-
cy is a huge resource for our investigators, as she has a ca-
pacity to recall critical events and those involved. 

Stacy has been married to retired York County Sheriff Ser-
geant Steven Thistlewood for the past 28 years and they have 
two children that they are extremely proud of. Their son is a 
combat medic in the 82 Airborne Division in the U.S. Army and 
their daughter is an ICU nurse in New Hampshire. The Thistle-
wood’s also just welcomed a new grandson to the family last 
February.  Stacy generously shares her new puppy “Maggie” 
with the rest of us at YCSO!  

Bulletin created by Stacy Thistlewood 



New Massabesic Middle  
School Resource Officer 

Deputy Robert Pellerin 
Deputy Pellerin  grew up in Saco and graduated 
from Thornton Academy. He attended USM and 
began his law enforcement career with the Saco 
Police Department in 2001. In 2003 he was select-
ed to be the School Resource Officer (SRO) at 
Thornton Academy.  In 2005 he transferred to the 
Scarborough Police Department and was selected 
to be the SRO at the Middle School in 2009. Deputy 
Pellerin remained the 
SRO in Scarborough until 
his retirement in June of 
2023. During his time in 
the schools, Deputy 
Pellerin was a DARE Of-
ficer and created a Law 
Enforcement Club aimed 
at middle school students 
interested in Law Enforce-
ment. 

New Deputy  
Matthew Cummer 
Deputy Matthew Cummer was hired in November and 
previously worked for the Milton, New Hampshire Police 
Department. After graduating high school, in 2014,  he 
started his Law Enforce-
ment career as a Correc-
tions Officer at the York 
County Sheriff's Office. 
Matthew worked as a 
Dispatcher and a Police 
Officer at the Portsmouth 
Naval Shipyard and at-
tended The Federal Law 
Enforcement Training 
Center in Artesia, New 
Mexico. Matthew has 
found his way back to 
the York County Sheriff's 
Office as a patrol deputy. 
Deputy Cummer lives in 
Berwick with his wife and 
two sons. 

On February 14, 2023, Deputy Cody 
Frazier of the York County Sheriff's 
Office stopped Bo Rodden on Rt. 202 
in Lebanon for a traffic violation. During 
this traffic stop, Rodden was found to 
be in possession of fentanyl, metham-
phetamine, and suboxone. In conclu-
sion, on November 30, Bo Rodden (33 
years old from Berwick) pled guilty in 
the United States District Court in Portland to distributing 
and possessing with the intent to distribute methampheta-
mine and fentanyl. A federal U.S. District Court judge will 
sentence Rodden at a later time. Rodden faces up to 20 
years in federal prison, a fine of up to one million dollars, 
and up to three years of supervised release.  

K-9 Corner

Rebel in Action 

Four Mile Track 
Results in Arrest 

On Tuesday, October 10, 2023, 

at approx. 600 pm, Deputy Alex-

ander Markellos attempted to 

stop a vehicle on the Jordan Springs Rd. in Alfred for a 

traffic violation.  The vehicle failed to stop and drove reck-

lessly through a graveyard and two lawns in a neighbor-

hood.  The driver was trying to elude capture after aban-

doning the vehicle.  Deputy Cody Frazier and K-9 Rebel 

responded to the scene and conducted a track that lasted 

approximately four miles. The operator was located by K-9 

Rebel and arrested.  

The operator was identified as Patrick Dyer, (42 years old 

from Arundel). He was arrested on an outstanding warrant 

for Violation of Conditions of Release and Theft. He was 

also charged with Aggravated Criminal Mischief (Class C), 

and Violation of Conditions of Release. The Aggravated 

Criminal Mischief charge is the result of extensive damage 

to a homeowner's front yard.  The Sheriff's Office will be 

requesting additional charges at Grand Jury. 



York County Deputies Inspection 

Major Paul Mitchell, Major Kathryn Mone,  
Sheriff William King Jr, and Chief Deputy Jeremy Forbes 

Chief Deputy Jeremy Forbes inspecting the trunk of 
K9 handler Deputy Cody Frazier 

Sheriff King conversing with 
Deputy Travis Jones 

Major Mitchell inspecting  
Deputy Duane Fay 

Board of Visitors Janet Drew with 
Deputy Darren Cyr 

Purpose of the inspection.....There are several reasons we decided to hold an inspection. The first is to en-
sure all of the deputy's issued equipment is in proper operating condition and fully functional. We also verifyied 
they have in their cruiser all the issued equipment that is needed to carry out their patrol duties. We then 
looked at things like their spike mats, firearms, gas masks, and other items (Narcan, spit hoods, radars, etc...). 
We also looked for items that might need to be replaced or repaired.  

The inspection also gives the deputies a chance to "spruce up" their cruisers and make sure they are clean 
inside and out. During the inspection, the command staff looked at the cruisers to see if there were any issues 
that need to be addressed (tires, windshields, rust, inspection sticker, etc.)   

For the inspection the deputies did not wear their normal patrol uniform but wore the more formal "Class A" 
uniform. This uniform is used for more formal events like funer-
als, parades, inspections, etc… 

This uniform when worn is a sense of pride for our agency. 

Another reason for the inspection is to build a sense of camara-
derie among the deputies. Because of the nature of our work 
(rural patrol), we often do not get to see each other and have 
conversations with deputies on different shifts. This gives us a 
chance to connect with everyone at one time and have a meeting 
with the command staff. During this meeting, the Sheriff address 
ed the patrol division and talked about the future of our agency. 
The Sheriff then opened the floor to questions from the deputies.  



Court Security 
On April 13, 2023, the York County 
Sheriff's Office took over all security 
duties at the Alfred Courthouse when the York Judi-
cial Center in Biddeford opened up.   
Deputies Dennis Chagnon and John Willey are as-
signed to the courthouse to protect the judges, gov-
ernment employees, and visitors to probate, deeds, 
and the child advocacy center. Since April, Deputies 
Chagnon and Willey have screened a total of 7,757 
individuals that have entered the courthouse.  Dur-

ing this same time period 
the deputies have seized 
196 prohibited items that 
people have entered the 
building with. 
Many of the employees at 
the courthouse have com-
mented on how they appre-
ciate Deputies Chagnon and 
Willey keeping them safe 
every day. 

FBI National  
Academy Graduates 
The York County Sheriff's Office is proud to have 
three members of the command staff who are grad-
uates of the FBI National Academy. The FBI National 
Academy is a prestigious 10-week training academy 
in Quantico, Virginia that provides advanced leader-
ship classes and fitness training to law enforcement 
executives. Less than 1% of law enforcement offic-
ers are chosen. Law enforcement professionals 
come from around the world to be part of this op-
portunity. At the completion of the 10-week acade-
my, students must finish a 6.1-mile run through an 
obstacle course at FBI Headquarters that was de-
signed and built by United States Marines. If you 
watched the movie Silence of the Lambs, you will 
remember Agent Clarice Starling running through 
this course at the beginning of the movie. Students 
who finish the course receive a yellow brick that is 
symbolic of their accomplishment. Sheriff King at-
tended session #199 (1999), Chief Deputy Forbes 
attended session #286 (2023), and Major Mone was 
part of session #269 (2017). 

Assist Agency 

Lewiston Strong 

During the weekend of 
October 28th, several York County Sheriff's deputies 
responded to Lewiston to assist in the search for Robert 
Card who tragically killed 18 people. Those deputies 
were Sgt. Kyle Kassa, Deputy Alex Markellos, Deputy 
Steven Broy, and Deputy Jeffrey Regan. On November 
1st, first responders were honored for their service be-
fore the annual Battle of the Bridge game between 
Lewiston and Edward Little High Schools. Deputy 
Markellos attended the event representing the York 
County Sheriff's Office. Deputy Markellos is also a for-
mer officer with the Lewiston Police Department. We 
feel very fortunate to not only have deputies willing to 
assist other agencies during a time of need but to also 
have the support of so many people in our state.  
In picture left to right: Officer Pat Jacques, Sgt. Corey 
Jacques, Chief 
David St. Pierre, 
Deputy A lex 
Markellos, Officer 
Craig Johnson, 
and Lt. Derek St. 
Laurent. 



MISSION STATEMENT 
The York County Sheriff’s Office is committed to working in partnership with our community to improve quality of life,  

reduce crime, and provide a sense of safety and security for our community members and visitors to our county. 

VISION STATEMENT 
The York County Sheriff’s Office envisions a county where all people feel safe, supported, and respected.  

We will accomplish this by providing exceptional police services in collaboration with our community members  
and other agencies whose mission is to provide service to our residents, their guests, and visitors. We will work 

toward fostering an engaged community that will readily report crimes or other public safety concerns. 

CORE VALUES 
Integrity- We will always hold ourselves to the highest ethical and moral standards, 

while always holding ourselves accountable for our actions and decisions. 

Community Partnership- We will dedicate ourselves to a mutual setting of priorities 

with our community and a shared commitment to community policing. 

Service- We will provide the highest level of quality service in a courteous, efficient, and accessible manner. 

Dignity- We pledge that we will treat all individuals with respect, dignity, and compassion. 

Constitution- We will respect and protect the rights of all individuals while enforcing the laws enacted by the 

United States and state of Maine Constitutions. All citizens will be treated fairly and without favoritism. 

Ourselves- We recognize that our employees are the cornerstone of our agency’s success. We value the unique 

contributions made by all of our employees towards our public safety mission. 

Fall Firearms 

Training 

This was Fall Firearms 
Training, a 5-hour block 
offered annually.  

This year was focused on practical applications of 
various tools available for patrol incidents, includ-
ing breaching kits & rams, 12 
gauge and 40mm less-lethal 
p l a t f o r m s ,  a n d  b a l l i s t i c 
shields. These tools were in-
corporated into live-fire drills. 
Deputies received instruction 
on close quarter battle (CQB) 
concepts during slow and de-
liberate building searches and 
active shooter responses. 

M.A.R.C
Training
On 10-24-23 and 10-31-23, all 
York County Patrol and Civil Depu-
ties attended a block of instruction 
on Methods of Arrest, Restraint, and Control 
(M.A.R.C.). This was a mandatory training requirement 
set by the Maine Criminal Justice Academy for 2023. All 
certified law enforcement officers in the State of Maine 
needed to complete this training.  
This important training instructs officers on proper 
threat recognition, threat assessment, and making the 
appropriate choice involving the use of force options. 
York County Patrol Deputy Martin Harmon is a certified 
M.A.R.C. instructor and provided the training.



Message from the Jail Administrator 

Major Nathan Thayer 

The York County Jail is happy to announce that we 
have officially changed medical vendors. Armor Health 
Care is the new vendor in place for Medical, Mental 
health, and MAT (Medication Assisted Treatment) 
needs. With the new vendor on board, many changes 
have been put in place to better serve the needs of the 

residents and security. 

On two occasions we had two different volunteer reli-
gious bands join us and performed for our resident pop-
ulation. The two bands were “Rock my soul” and “Not 
by works”. We are grateful for their time and their per-

formance. 

The holidays can be some of the most difficult times for 
residents, but even more so for the families they leave 
behind. This year we partnered with our Board of Visi-
tors and STLCPM (Saint Teresa of Lisieux Catholic 
Prison Ministry) on a Christmas initiative. This initiative 
was meant for incarcerated parents, that were allowed 
contact with their children to be able to choose donated 
gifts. They would then wrap them and present the gifts 
to their children in person at the jail. This allowed the 
parents to give something to their children and spend 
time with them when they would not normally get to do 

so. 

Our lobby receptionist Marion Bedard processes all 
mail coming into the facility. A few weeks ago, she spot-
ted what she thought appeared to be a suspicious letter 
labeled as legal mail. This mail was searched and 
found to contain 1.7 grams of methamphetamine. Due 
to her keen observation skills, Marion prevented Illegal 
drugs from entering our facility and potentially causing 

harm to someone. 

On December 16, 2023, the York County jail started 
having all personal mail to the resident population go to 
a third-party vendor. The vendor then uploads the mail 
directly to the resident’s personal tablet. All legal mail 
will still be handled in the same manner as before and 
mailed directly to the jail. It is our hope this will cut 
down on the amount of contraband being sent into the 

facility. 

Spotlight 

Corrections Officer 

Major Thayer would like to recognize Of-
ficer Matthew Sanborn for his outstanding 
work.  In December a new arrestee en-
tered the York County Jail will 11 grams 
of cocaine. Officer Matthew Sanborn 
made the discovery, and the staff was 
able to take possession of the illegal substance preventing 

the resident population from being at risk of harm.  

Correction Officers 

Graduation 

On November 9th, the York County 
Sheriff's office proudly graduated 8 
corrections officers from the 79th 
BCTP Class at the Maine Criminal 
Justice Academy.   

Congratulations to: 
James Fitzgerald, Andy Leary, Nicholas MacDonald, 
Jacob Melendez, Rene Melendez, Ryan Succi, David 
Temple, and Justyn Winn. 

It was a great day for York County and not only did we 
graduate 8 new officers, our Jail Administrator, Nathan 
Thayer was the keynote speaker!  

Director of 
Professional Standards 

On November 20, 2023, The York 
County Jail hired Captain Jason 
Brooks for the position of Director of 
Professional Standards. Captain 
Brooks comes to us after completing 
20 years of service with the Sanford 

Police Department and reaching retirement. Welcome 
aboard Captain Brooks.  



New Correction Officers 
York County's newest correctional officers began their 
five-week academy at the Windham Correctional Center 
on October 2nd. Pictured here are the officers getting 
their uniforms inspected by 

the training staff.   

Pot Roast Dinner 
The appealing smell permeates the hallways every Fri-
day evening with pot roast simmering.  What has be-
come somewhat of a Friday night tradition, Corrections 
Officer Jason Gaudette cooks a roast beef dinner for 
the entire shift.    

Acton Fair 

Thank you 
Mr. Richard Burke, one of the     
organizers of the Acton Fair, visited 
the Sheriff's Office and presented 
Major Kathryn Mone and Sheriff 
king with a plaque thanking 
us and the Sheriff's Office for 
supporting the Acton Fair!  
The photograph on the 
plaque was taken when    
Major Mone and I were   
passing out "Sheriff" stickers 

last August.  

Smart Recovery 

Here is our first completed 
SMART recovery course for 
female residents with substance use disor-
der.  These five women successfully completed 
the course earning their certificates.  Pictured 
from left to right are Brandi Richmond, Alexis Ir-
ving, Renee Roachville, Shawna Hynes, and Kaylee 
Townsend.  You 
are seeing our 
*Sober Sisters*

The instructor is 
Julie Egdalh 
from Portland 
Recovery.  

VIPS Jail Tour 

Last night we had the honor of 
meeting with the Kennebunk 
Police VIPS.  They learned a 
little about the jail and our pro-
gramming, then they had a 
"behind the curtain" tour of the facility. 

Pictured is Major Nathan Thayer, Diana Miles York County  
Substance Use Counselor, VIPS JoAnn Keter, Irene Cluff, 

Lindsay Smith, Dan Morin, Nicci Hafer and Sheriff King.  

Older Wiser Liberated Seniors 
Visited YCJail 
October 18th, we had the honor of hosting the OWLS (Older, 
Wiser, Liberated Seniors) at the York County Jail.  Captain 
Carl Ronco and Lieutenant 
Lori Marks discussed jail 
operations and the OWLS 
got a look at some of the 
programming we offer at 
the jail.  It was a great 

group! 

Halloween Fun 

The York County Sheriff's Office handles 
some serious business.  We are serious 
people with serious jobs, until Hallow-
een.  Mindy Badger and Emily Enger 
came to work  dressed as an "Old Rock 
Star" (Mindy) and Skyrim Mage (Emily.)  Also wanting to get in on 
the Halloween act is Maggie, wearing her festive scarf.  



Constitutional 

Law Training 

On October 20, 2023,  the York 
County Sheriff's Office hosted a 
training session at York County 
Community College in Wells that 
was taught by Zach Miller. This 
training was attended by officers 
from Cumberland and York 
County area police departments. 
Zach Miller is a well-respected police legal instructor who 
specializes in federal and state constitutional law. The 
class focused on updated Maine case law as well as 

federal statutes. 
Attending the training 
from the York County 
Sheriff's Office was 
Sgt. Morneau, Sgt. 
Sevigny, Deputy Carr, 
Deputy Markellos, and 
Deputy Chenard.  

Grant Awarded 
Traffic Enforcement 

On October 25, 2023, the York 
County Sheriff's Office was awarded 
$39,090 in grant money to be used 
towards dedicated high-visibility traffic enforcement. This 
will allow deputies to work four-hour traffic details and 
focus on drivers who are speeding, operating while dis-
tracted, or operating under the influence of alcohol or 
drugs.  
The York County Sheriff's Office will conduct these de-
tails in known high crash areas or roads that citizens 
make complaints about.  

Visit from 

State Senator Ingwerson 

State Senator Henry Ingwerson, from Senate District 
32  stopped by the Sheriff's Office today on a "listening 
visit."  He wanted to know more about the recent spate 

of "deed thefts" in York 
County and spoke with 
Registrar of Deeds 
Nancy Hammond and 
her deputy, Wendy 

Caiazzo. 

He also conversed 
with Chief Deputy 
Jeremy Forbes, 
Major Kathryn 
Mone, Deputies 
Cummer and Gould 
about the application and challenges of the Yellow Flag 

law. 

Wells  
Christmas Parade 

The York County Sheriff's Office had great representa-
tion at the Wells Christmas Parade this year, even in 
the rain!  Corrections Officers Sharron Desrochers, 
Kayleigh Hamilton, and Emma Kehoe (aka Grinch) 
helped make this memorable parade.  Also assisting 
was officer Desrocher's 15 year old son, Zander and 
Officer Hamilton's 15 year old daughter , Patty. 

FYI - the handcuffs were not really on the Grinch! 

Y 

C 

S 

O 



Programming offered to Residents  

at the York County Jail 

October 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023 

Two graduated from the Recovery Coach Academy offered in November. 

Tuesdays  

ENSO Substance use agency facilitated weekly groups in October and November. 
Due to sickness and staffing issues, they were not present on site in December. (Returning in Feb) 

Weekly Bible Study Groups in each pod on Tuesday evenings. 
12 weeks, three male pods and the female pod were offered these services. 

One woman chose to go to the CRD program for one year treatment.  

Wednesdays  

Two AA groups offered on a weekly basis totally 24 groups offered.   

One is at 2:00 p.m. and the other is at 6:00 p.m.  An average of four residents participated in each group. 

Thursdays  

DV support groups offered twice per month to the women.  Six groups were offered this quarter. 

Smart Recovery Certificate program was offered.  16 women expressed interest in the program initially.  Some just 
dropped out because the group was offered in the morning and others were released before the end of the pro-

gram.  Five women completed and graduated with certificates from this program. 

NA meetings were offered by N. Butler - peer recovery support person. 

1 to 3 and two pods were offered these meetings.  

Toastmasters Adult Education course was offered to men at the facility who would like learn how to communicate  

better, seven men started the course and four will be completing the course in January.  

Peer Recovery support worker, monthly - 6:00 to 8:00 = Jackie - for women's pod.   

She was able to come into the facility three times and connected with five different women.   

She focused on the women leaving the facility and soon and offers support when they are in the community.  

  Fridays - Peer Support Worker and Advocator - Ryan Paige -  

  Topics that were offered: (Talks in two different pods each week.) 

  Eight substance use classes 

  Forty-eight bible study classes  

  Twenty-four AA groups      

   Six DV support groups  

  Eight Smart Recovery classes with five graduates 

   Eight NA groups   

   Four Toastmaster groups  

 Three Peer to Peer Recovery support  (one on one support) 

  Twelve Peer Support Worker and Advocate groups  

*Yoga classes and Art Classes were also offered to the residents.  (Paid positions)

Parenting classes are starting Friday, Jan. 12, 2024 



From the desk of: 

Donna L. Ring 
York County Commissioner, District 4 

Alfred, Maine 

Dear Friends: 

 I am honored to serve as your York County Commissioner, and I will continue to work hard for you and all the 

citizens in my district. I welcome this opportunity to share a few of our recent accomplishments.  

York County remains engaged in issues that affect every municipality and citizen in our district. Several are related 

to the opioid crisis and substance misuse as well as the recruitment and retention of our Public Safety workforce. 

These are real issues, and we should all be concerned about them.  

I am happy to say York County is in the final design development and permitting phase of a regional recovery 

center. This will be a resource for all citizens of York County and will treat co-occurring disorders of substance 

misuse and mental health in a residential setting. 

We are also in the permitting process for a regional first responder training facility. Open to all public safety 

agencies across York County, it will become the premiere training ground for our new and existing workforce 

county-wide. Most importantly, it will provide training locally on a consistent basis. It is impractical in 2024 to ask 

volunteer firefighters and other first responders – who have home and family responsibilities – to travel across 

Maine for required training. Various programs will be presented in conjunction with York County Community 

College.  

Much more happened at York County government in 2023. Here are some highlights: 

• York County Emergency Management Agency hosted 28 trainings and exercises and worked with county

school districts on emergency safety plans, including an active shooter exercise that saw responses by 7

municipal fire and police agencies. The EMA drone team completed 21 flight missions assisting first

responders – and after administering more than 100,000 COVID-19 vaccines, the EMA vaccine clinic was

closed.

• Commissioners directed ARPA funding to establish a teen center in Biddeford, creation of a supportive

housing and social services collective in Kittery and purchased a dredge for use by all coastal York County

communities.

• A peer leadership program at York County Sheriff’s Office, grant- funded by the National Alliance on

Mental Health ensures our deputies (and families) are provided with mental health resources to be

successful. Caring Unlimited funds a domestic violence investigator grant to ensure victims are provided

with resources to obtain help for themselves and their families. Through a Stanton Foundation grant, the

sheriff’s office has developed a K-9 program that is often asked to assist neighboring agencies. As well, a

York County deputy, funded by Maine Public Safety, works with the Maine Drug Enforcement Agency to

hold responsible those who traffic drugs in our communities and to investigate drug overdose deaths.

• York County Registry of Probate has accepted a record number of passport applications while case filings,

hearings and contested matters continue to increase.

• York County Registry of Deeds recorded more than 34,000 deeds, mortgages, liens, courts and plans in

2023.

May we all have a great, safe, and productive year, 

Sincerely, 

Donna L. Ring, York County Commissioner, District 4 





Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 2nd, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Rusty “Ralph” Blackington (Chair), Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair), Jessica Picard, 
Amber Swett, Victoria Gavel 
Selectboard members absent: None 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. Funky Bow Public Hearing – Re-Application for Special Amusement Permit

Ralph Blackington – Opens the public hearing and asks for public comment. There is no public
comment. The public hearing closes at 6:03pm.
Thomas Hatch – Motions to approve the Special Amusement Permit for Funky Bow.
Jessica Picard – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0.

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board and please be respectful of others
Joe Wagner – States if having a law enforcement officer present at Elections is a requirement of the
State, the Town can seek to have the State reimburse the Town for costs. Asks that the Planning
Board vacancy be filled by the process recommended by the Town Manager with the involvement of
two planning board members. He is unclear about the mileage reimbursement policy, as to which
employees are eligible for the reimbursement. With regard to appointment of Town Clerk, hopefully
the person appointed to the position of town clerk will have will have had substantial experience in
conducting elections such that direct supervision and oversight will not be necessary.
Lindsay Gagne – States to the comment of having law enforcement present at Elections, this is a
requirement of RSU57 because the Town is using their building and they would prefer there are
protective measures in place to monitor the use of the building. If at any time there are questions,
residents are welcome to contact the Town Manager.

b. Mail  •Alfred/ Lyman Monthly Report York County Sheriff’s    •LHS Letter

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 12/4/2023

Amber Swett – Motions to approve the minutes. Victoria Gavel seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0
b. Review / Approve meeting minutes 12/21/2023

Victoria Gavel – Motions to approve the minutes. Jessica Picard seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #24 in the amount of $25,661.13

Victoria Gavel – Motions to approve. Thomas Hatch seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #25 (FY2024) in the amount of $611,335.39

Thomas Hatch – Motions to approve. Amber Swett seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Franchise Agreement, Discuss next steps, Updates from Tony/Brad. Tabled from last meeting

No new updates

Page 1 of 8

DRAFT
ITEM #3: (a.) Minutes

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/


Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 2nd, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

b. MDOT Request approval for transporting materials, project on Rt 202, waiting on updates
Lindsay Gagne – States there is preconstruction meeting scheduled January 5th, the board has been
invited to attend.
Ralph Blackington – States he is interested and planning on attending.

c. Giving Committee – Project Statement
Jessica Picard – Verifies this committee could be self-funded in some ways and donation based.
Victoria Gavel – States she has concerns about confidentiality.
Lindsay Gagne – States the committee would not be collecting personal information but would be
working towards fundraising events. There is language in the project statement and code of ethics
pertaining to responsibility of confidentiality. This could be an adhoc committee initially and later
could be established as a standing committee.
Amber Swett – Motions to accept the Giving Committee’s Project Statement.
Thomas Hatch – Seconds the motion.
Motion passes: 4-0-1 (Thomas Hatch, Ralph Blackington, Jessica Picard, Amber Swett in favor.
Victoria Gavel opposed).

d. Cemetery Committee – Chadborn Cemetery
Amber Swett – States some concerns that town funds were used for a private entity.
Thomas Hatch – Suggests sending a memo to the committee.

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Road Commissioner –

Thomas Croteau – States he has been cleaning up hanging trees in the roads and helped clean up
the vandalism at Kennebunk Pond. The culvert at Fryes Bridge Road will need to be replaced. He
plans on doing the repair on January 15th. Project should take a day and the road will need to be
temporarily closed, but they will try to keep at least one lane open as much as they can.

b. Fire Chief – none
c. CEO –

Brenda Charland – States she has put together a report. She submits a report to the Board. She’s
developed a good working relationship with the Electrical Inspector, the Assessor and Fire Chief.
She’s been looking at the Fee Structure and comparing it with other Towns and would like to keep
an eye towards user fees supporting the department and not derived from taxpayers as much as
possible. She asks the board if they want her to look at configuring the fee schedule and see if they
can bring it up a little more. The board has some discussion and agrees to review updating the fee
schedule.

d. Tax Collector – November Report – Reviewed in Agenda Packet
e. Bunganut Park Committee –

Michelle Feliccitti – States the Committee met with a landscape architect to go over a suggestions
for the committee to start looking into. It was recommended that the Town consider getting a
topographical survey and wetland delineation, at least in the area where Improvements will be
considered. This way a landscape architect will be able to use this information in developing a plan.
They have collected quotes. One came in for the topographical survey for approximately $3,500.
Wetlands delineation would require a soil scientist, which will likely add more costs.

f. Treasurer –  Expense Report – Reviewed in Agenda Packet
g. Town Manager – Progress Report

Lindsay Gagne – States as an update to the notes, there were power outages from the last storm
that caused some issues. It was discovered that the server room and AC unit in the server room was
not hooked up to the Panel for the generator. They can, however, run on battery but the room will
get very hot. After talking with the Electrical Inspector, it was verified the Town will need to invest in
a larger generator to meet the need of adding more items to the panel. An alternative would be to

Page 2 of 8

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 2nd, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

take some things off the panel to add the server room, but that may mean we’d have to close the 
Town Hall in events of power outage. Review of progress notes in agenda packet.  

h. Other  -
Thomas Hatch – States there was vandalism at Kennebunk Pond recently and he had chosen to
close the gate for now where there is no ice fishing right now.
Amber Swett – States she was at an Eco Maine meeting, and they are going to be voting on going
out for a bond for planning design, construction modification, repairs and improvements to their
new MRF. They will be voting January 8th.

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Discuss chain of communications

Amber Swett – States she attended the Municipal Officers Webinar Training where they discussed
boards having a chain of communication. One example that was provided was more of a code of
conduct for the Town of Hallowell. She suggests the Board consider clarifying some chain of
communication.
Lindsay Gagne – States it was brought to the board’s attention by a former charter commission
member that had stated to the board one of the reasons the commission considered a Town
Manager plan was because at the time there were instances of elected officials going to employees
directly. The idea of a Town Manager was to have a point person to help with directions and
process. For example, there are no longer complaints addressed on the agenda, because issues can
now be addressed with the Town Manager and brought to the board when appropriate. It would be
a good idea to establish a clear process. The board could table the item but would be good to keep
workshopping ideas.

b. Funky Bow – Review/Approve State Liquor License.
Amber Swett – Motions to approve. Thomas Hatch seconds. Motion Passes: 5-0-0

c. Board/Committee Resignations – Planning Board, ORC, RSU#57
Thomas Hatch – Motions to accept resignation of Michael Rancourt from the ORC.
Victoria Gavel – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0
Thomas Hatch – Motions to accept the resignation of Rod Tetu from Planning Board.
Amber Swett – Seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0.
Thomas Hatch – Motions to accept the resignation of Norm Dubois from RSU#57 School Board.
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0
Thomas Hatch – States all resignations were due to personal life changes.
Victoria Gavel – States she would like to get some thank you cards for the board to sign.

d. Review/ Approve Mileage compensation policy.
Victoria Gavel – Motions to accept the Draft 2 “Accountable Plan” mileage policy.
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 5-0-0

e. Appointment – Town Clerk
Jessica Picard – Motions to rescind the appointment of Lindsay Gagne as Town Clerk and appoint
Susan Bellerose as Town Clerk effective December 18th, 2023.
Thomas Hatch – Seconds the motion,
Discussion, change the effective date to January 3rd, 2024
Jessica Picard – Rescinds her motion above.
Jessica Picard – Motions to rescind the appointment of Lindsay Gagne as Town Clerk and appoint
Susan Bellerose as Town Clerk effective January 3rd, 2024.

Page 3 of 8

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 2nd, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

OTHER 
Amber Swett – States she would like to address an issue and reads a prepared statement, see attached. 

EXCECUTIVE SESSION 
1.M.R.S.A §405 (A) Discussion with Town Manager regarding personnel matters
Thomas Hatch – Motions to go into executive session per MRSA 405 (A) Discussion with Town Manager regarding
personnel matters.
Amber Swett – Seconds the motion.
Lindsay Gagne – States for discussion a reminder to the board that anything discussed in executive session is
confidential and cannot be shared outside of executive session. Board members are elected officials and can be held
both jointly and separately liable.
Motion passes: 4-0-1 (Thomas Hatch, Ralph Blackington, Jessica Picard, Amber Swett in favor. Victoria Gavel
opposed).

Jessica Picard – Motions to come out of executive session. Thomas Hatch seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

ADJOURN 

Jessica Picard – Motions to adjourn. Amber Swett seconds. Motion passes: 5-0-0 

__________________________________________ 
Rusty “Ralph” Blackington  

__________________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch  

_____________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_____________________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 

_____________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel

I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 8 pages 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated January 2nd, 2024 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne

Page 4 of 8

DRAFT



Page 5 of 8

DRAFT



Page 6 of 8

DRAFT



Page 7 of 8

DRAFT



Page 8 of 8

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Meeting Minutes 

Monday January 18th, 2024 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 1 of 1 

These are summary minutes in nature only and a full video recording of the proceeding is available to view on our 
YouTube channel at https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams or visit our website: 

https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/ 

Selectboard members present: Rusty “Ralph” Blackington (Chair), Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair), Jessica Picard, 
Amber Swett 
Selectboard members absent: Victoria Gavel  

ITEM #1 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #26 in the amount of $29,014.81

Amber Swett – Motions to approve. Thomas Hatch seconds. Motion passes: 4-0-0
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #27 (FY2024) in the amount of $60,675.46

Amber Swett – Motions to approve. Thomas Hatch seconds. Motion passes: 4-0-0

Jessica Picard – Motions to adjourn. Amber Swett seconds. Motion passes: 4-0-0 

__________________________________________ 
Rusty “Ralph” Blackington  

__________________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch  

_____________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_____________________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 

_____________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel

I, Lindsay Gagne, Town Manager of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting of 1 page 
are the original minutes of the Select Board Meeting dated January 18th, 2024 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne

DRAFT
ITEM #3: (b.) Minutes

https://www.youtube.com/@LymanTownHall/streams
https://lyman-me.gov/committees/board-of-selectmen/agenda-and-minutes/


ITEM #4: (a.) Payroll





ITEM #4: (b.) Payroll





ITEM #4: (c.) AP Warrant



















Cable Television Ordinance 

Town of Lyman 

Adopted October 16th, 2023 

Amended: ______________ 

The Town of Lyman, acting through its municipal officers pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. 

§3008(2), hereby enacts the following Cable Television Ordinance:

Section 1 – PURPOSE 

The purpose for the ordinance is to provide for Town regulation and use of the cable television 

system including its construction, operation and maintenance in, along, upon, across, over and 

under the streets, alleys, public ways and public places now laid out or dedicated, and all 

extensions thereof and additions thereof in the Town of Lyman, including poles, wires, cables, 

underground conduits, manholes, conductors and fixtures necessary for the maintenance and 

operation in the Town of Lyman, of the cable television systems and to provide conditions 

accompanying the grant of franchise; and providing for the Town regulation of cable television 

operation.  

Section 2 – DEFINITIONS 

“Cable Television System” shall have the same meaning as defined in 30-A M.R.S.A. §3008 as 

the same may be amended.  

“Cable Television Company” shall mean any Video Service Provider, person, firm, or 

corporation owning, controlling, operating, managing, or leasing a cable television system 

within the Town of Lyman, sometimes hereinafter referred to as “the company.” 

“Town” shall mean the Town of Lyman, organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

Maine and the area within its territorial limits. 

"Video service provider" means any person that directly or through one or more affiliates sells 

in the State access to video, audio or computer-generated or computer-augmented 

entertainment and directly or through one or more affiliates owns or operates facilities located 

in whole or in part in a municipality’s public rights-of-way that are used to provide those 

services, irrespective of the technology used to deliver such services. "Video service provider" 

includes, but is not limited to, a cable system operator and a common carrier that operates a 

cable television system. "Video service provider" does not include: 

ITEM #5: (c.) Franchise Ordinance Amendment



(1) A commercial mobile service provider, as defined in 47 United States Code,

Section 332(d)(1); or

(2) A provider of an Internet access service, as defined in 47 United States Code,

Section 231(e)(4), with respect to the provision of the Internet service by the

provider.

Section 3 – FRANCHISE REQUIRED 

No person, firm or corporation shall install, maintain or operate within the Town or any of its 

public ways or other public areas any equipment or facilities for the operation of a cable 

television system unless a franchise authorizing the use of said public ways or areas has first 

been obtained pursuant to the provision of this Ordinance and unless said franchise is in full 

force and effect.  

Section 4 – FRANCHISE CONTRACT 

The municipal officers of the Town may contract on such terms, conditions and fees as they 

deem in the best interests of the Town and its residents with one or more Cable Television 

Companies for the operation of a cable television system within the Town, including the 

granting of a non-exclusive franchise for the operation thereof for a period not to exceed 

fifteen (15) years.  

Applicants for a franchise or franchise renewal shall pay a non-refundable filing fee of $500 to 

the Town to defray the cost of public notice and advertising expenses relating to such 

application. The applicants may also be assessed the cost of attorney fees incurred by the Town 

of Lyman in connection with the cable franchise application and agreement. The application 

shall be filed with the Town Clerk and shall contain such information as the Town may require 

including, but not limited to, a general description of the applicant’s proposed operation, a 

schedule of proposed charges, a statement detailing its previous two fiscal years, an estimated 

ten year financial projection of its proposed system, its annual Town franchise fee as required 

by the Town, and the basis for same, and a statement detailing the prior operational experience 

of the applicant in both the cable television and microwave service including that of its 

officers, management and staff to be associated with the proposed operations.  

Any franchise contract may be revoked by the municipal officers for good and sufficient cause 

as provided in the franchise contract, after due notice to the company and a public hearing 

thereon, with the right to appeal to the Superior Court under Rule 80B of the Maine Rules of 

Civil Procedure.  



Section 5 – PUBLIC HEARING 

Before issuance of a request for proposals, or during the franchise contract renewal process, the 

Town shall hold a public hearing with at least seven (7) days advance notice for the purpose of 

determining any special local needs or interest regarding cable television.  

Applications for a franchise to operate a CATV system in the Town and related 

documents are public records to be filed with and maintained by the Town pursuant to the State 

Freedom of Access Law, 1 M.R.S.A. § 401 et seq., as amended from time to time.  

Before authorizing the issuance of any such franchise contract, including an assignment or a 

renewal of a franchise contract, the municipal officers shall review the applicant’s character, 

financial and technical qualifications and the adequacy and feasibility of its qualifications to 

operate a cable television system within the Town, and shall conduct a public hearing thereon 

with at least seven (7) days advertised notice prior to said public hearing.  

Section 6 – PERFORMANCE BOND AND INSURANCE COVERAGE 

The Cable Television Company shall provide sufficient insurance to indemnify and hold 

harmless the Town of Lyman, its agents and its employees from and against all claims, 

damages, losses, and expenses, including attorney’s fees, arising out of or resulting from the 

performance of the work, maintenance of the system and damages caused by components or 

portions thereof, provided that any such claim, damage, loss, or expense is attributable to 

bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property, 

including the loss of use resulting therefrom, and is caused in whole or in part by any negligent 

or willful act or omission of the Cable Television Company and anyone directly or indirectly 

employed by it or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable. Upon the execution of any 

such franchise contract, the cable television company shall file a surety company performance 

bond in an amount to be determined by the Board of Selectmen conditioned upon the faithful 

performance of said contract and full compliance with any laws, ordinances, or regulations 

governing said franchise. Said performance bond shall remain in effect until the Cable 

Television Company has completed any construction or reconstruction of the system as set 

forth in the franchise contract. 

The Cable Television Company shall also, upon execution of any such franchise contract, 

provide evidence of insurance coverage as the Municipal Officers may require.  

Section 7 – COMPLIANCE WITH ALL LAWS 

Cable Television Companies shall at all times comply with all applicable federal, State and 

local laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes and orders.  All applicable 

requirements of public and consumer protection laws affecting the provision of cable television 



services, including without limitation 30-A M.R.S.A. §3008 and§3010, as the same may be 

amended, are incorporated by reference. 

Section 8 -- SEVERABILITY 

Should any section or provision of this Ordinance be declared by the courts to be invalid, such 

decision shall not invalidate any other section or provision of this Ordinance. 

This ordinance with amendments is effective upon its adoption by the Selectboard, Town of 

Lyman. 

Approved this _________ day of __________________, 2024. 

Town of Lyman by its Selectboard 

________________________Ralph Blackington 

________________________Thomas Hatch 

________________________Jessica Picard 

________________________Amber Swett 

________________________Victoria Gavel 



ITEM #5: (d.) MDOT Project



From: Town Manager
To: Ralph Blackington; Thomas Hatch; Jessica Picard; Amber Swett; Victoria Gavel
Subject: Fwd: [EXT] FW: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman
Date: Wednesday, January 10, 2024 9:21:15 AM
Attachments: image008.png

image009.png
image003.png
image004.png
image012.png
image015.png

Good morning, 

This is the route they will be using for the 202 project. 

Best regards, 

Lindsay Gagne 

Town Manager
FOAA Officer 

Town of Lyman
11 South Waterboro Rd
Lyman, ME 04002

207-247-0462

Under Maine’s Freedom of Access (“Right to Know”) law, all e-mail and e-mail attachments received or prepared for use in
matters concerning Town business or containing information relating to Town business are likely to be regarded as public
records which may be inspected by any person upon request, unless otherwise made confidential by law. If you have received this
message in error, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Thank you for your cooperation.

From: Jarrod Googins <jgoogins@acorn-engineering.com>
Sent: Wednesday, January 10, 2024 9:16:20 AM
To: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>; Coombs, Douglas <douglas.coombs@maine.gov>
Cc: Blair Jr, Terry <Terry.BlairJr@maine.gov>; Macdougall, George <George.Macdougall@maine.gov>
Subject: FW: [EXT] FW: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman

Grondin sent the below message and map image in regards to running overweight vehicles and the possible use
of local roads.

Thanks

Jarrod Googins, E.I.
Resident Engineer

Acorn Engineering, Inc
PO Box 3372
Portland, Maine 04104
www.acorn-engineering.com
https://www.instagram.com/acorn_engineering/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/acorn-civil-engineering/

B. 207.775.2655
C. 207.776.4266

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:RalphB@lyman-me.gov
mailto:thomash@lyman-me.gov
mailto:jessicap@lyman-me.gov
mailto:ambers@lyman-me.gov
mailto:victoriag@lyman-me.gov
http://www.acorn-engineering.com/
https://www.instagram.com/acorn_engineering/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/acorn-civil-engineering/








From: Ray Allard <r.allard@rjgrondin.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 9, 2024 6:18 AM
To: Jarrod Googins <jgoogins@acorn-engineering.com>; Weston Bergeron <w.bergeron@rjgrondin.com>
Cc: Hodgman, Ryan <Ryan.Hodgman@maine.gov>
Subject: RE: [EXT] FW: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman

Jarrod,

We do not intend to run any overweight equipment or trucks for the project.  Other than Davis Road which we
already have an agreement to access our pit we will only be traveling on state aid roads in Lyman. We will
update if the plan changes.

Thanks,

Ray Allard
General Superintendent

R. J. Grondin & Sons
11 Bartlett Road, Gorham, ME 04038
Office: (207) 854-1147 ext. 235
Cell:    (207) 749-5765
www.rjgrondin.com

From: Jarrod Googins <jgoogins@acorn-engineering.com> 
Sent: Monday, January 8, 2024 4:43 PM
To: Ray Allard <r.allard@rjgrondin.com>; Weston Bergeron <w.bergeron@rjgrondin.com>
Cc: Hodgman, Ryan <Ryan.Hodgman@maine.gov>
Subject: [EXT] FW: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you recognize
the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Ray and Weston,

See the below email chain, but the Lyman Select board wants to be kept informed on what local roads might be
used for overhaul limits depending on your material sources and if you will need to request a bond.

Thanks

Jarrod Googins, E.I.
Resident Engineer

Acorn Engineering, Inc
PO Box 3372
Portland, Maine 04104
www.acorn-engineering.com
https://www.instagram.com/acorn_engineering/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/acorn-civil-engineering/

http://www.rjgrondin.com/
mailto:jgoogins@acorn-engineering.com
mailto:r.allard@rjgrondin.com
mailto:w.bergeron@rjgrondin.com
mailto:Ryan.Hodgman@maine.gov
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.acorn-2Dengineering.com_&d=DwMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=qvdn-VOha-gwNEEuZLBhZ4FuBbbuymG6OyfwY9xahJc&m=W1V5eDs3ImsLyAFAZceLxAuJORdLaxd5N--3IM8sXekUjLvrOXbJYXxqKegiv_rf&s=rxzOgLdL7qE880WWbsuvy_F0A6KPnrq5J2gv3WzKUF8&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.instagram.com_acorn-5Fengineering_&d=DwMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=qvdn-VOha-gwNEEuZLBhZ4FuBbbuymG6OyfwY9xahJc&m=W1V5eDs3ImsLyAFAZceLxAuJORdLaxd5N--3IM8sXekUjLvrOXbJYXxqKegiv_rf&s=DqsAjSz-deAeHK_otg_TWOHsrC5C44SNNfXHQzjDlDQ&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.linkedin.com_company_acorn-2Dcivil-2Dengineering_&d=DwMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=qvdn-VOha-gwNEEuZLBhZ4FuBbbuymG6OyfwY9xahJc&m=W1V5eDs3ImsLyAFAZceLxAuJORdLaxd5N--3IM8sXekUjLvrOXbJYXxqKegiv_rf&s=bo4vfcmcjy-3zMqZkcoeOu1-WB2tEQg4zFxav3OUY0U&e=


B. 207.775.2655
C. 207.776.4266

From: Coombs, Douglas <Douglas.Coombs@maine.gov> 
Sent: Monday, January 8, 2024 2:05 PM
To: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>; Hodgman, Ryan <Ryan.Hodgman@maine.gov>; Jarrod
Googins <jgoogins@acorn-engineering.com>
Cc: Blair Jr, Terry <Terry.BlairJr@maine.gov>; Macdougall, George <George.Macdougall@maine.gov>
Subject: RE: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman

Hi Jarrod and Ryan,

Please see the email below.  I believe R. J. Grondin and Sons will not be having any loads over legal road limits
for this project.  Would you please confirm and follow up Lyman Town Manager.  Thank you.

Doug

Mr. Douglas C. Coombs, PLS
Senior Project Manager – Highway Program
Maine DOT – Project Development
Phone: (207)215-4051

From: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov> 
Sent: Monday, January 8, 2024 1:16 PM
To: Coombs, Douglas <Douglas.Coombs@maine.gov>
Subject: RE: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman

EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the State of Maine Mail System. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
Good afternoon,

Are there any updates where the contractor may be sourcing material from. The Lyman Select Board was
looking for a general idea if local roads would be used and if they may need to consider requesting a bond.

Thank you for any information you can provide.

Best regards,

Lindsay Gagne

Town Manager / Town
Clerk
FOAA officer

11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002

207-247-0642 

207-499-7562

 townmanager@lyman-me.gov
   lyman-me.gov

mailto:Douglas.Coombs@maine.gov
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:Ryan.Hodgman@maine.gov
mailto:jgoogins@acorn-engineering.com
mailto:Terry.BlairJr@maine.gov
mailto:George.Macdougall@maine.gov
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:Douglas.Coombs@maine.gov
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__lyman-2Dme.gov_&d=DwMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=qvdn-VOha-gwNEEuZLBhZ4FuBbbuymG6OyfwY9xahJc&m=W1V5eDs3ImsLyAFAZceLxAuJORdLaxd5N--3IM8sXekUjLvrOXbJYXxqKegiv_rf&s=b-P1Wl2T9rsYHlG6lOOziD9_M8G1kyBambtqW8JxeI8&e=


Under Maine’s Freedom of Access (“Right to Know”) law, all e-mail and e-mail attachments received or prepared for use in matters
concerning Town business or containing information relating to Town business are likely to be regarded as public records which
may be inspected by any person upon request, unless otherwise made confidential by law. If you have received this message in
error, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Thank you for your cooperation.

From: Coombs, Douglas <Douglas.Coombs@maine.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, December 6, 2023 1:12 PM
To: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Cc: Macdougall, George <George.Macdougall@maine.gov>; Blair Jr, Terry <Terry.BlairJr@maine.gov>;
Hodgman, Ryan <Ryan.Hodgman@maine.gov>; Jarrod Googins <jgoogins@acorn-engineering.com>
Subject: RE: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman

Good morning,

The Route 202 project was awarded to R. J. Grondin & Sons, Gorham, Maine on December 5th, 2023. 

The project Construction PM is Ryan Hodgman and project Resident is Jarrod Googins.  Jarrod will be setting up
a Pre-Construction meeting once R.J. Grondin & Sons has submitted a schedule and other pre-construction
documents.

I have included both Jarrod and Ryan on this email so they can invite you to the Pre-Construction meeting so
that your questions can be addressed.

Best,

Doug Coombs

Mr. Douglas C. Coombs, PLS
Senior Project Manager – Highway Program
Maine DOT – Project Development
Phone: (207)215-4051

From: Coombs, Douglas 
Sent: Thursday, November 16, 2023 4:05 PM
To: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Cc: Macdougall, George <George.Macdougall@maine.gov>; Blair Jr, Terry <Terry.BlairJr@maine.gov>
Subject: RE: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman

Good afternoon,

I will keep your email in my inbox and as soon as the project is awarded, I will get back to you as we discussed. 

Best,

Doug

Mr. Douglas C. Coombs, PLS
Senior Project Manager – Highway Program
Maine DOT – Project Development
Phone: (207)215-4051

mailto:Douglas.Coombs@maine.gov
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:George.Macdougall@maine.gov
mailto:Terry.BlairJr@maine.gov
mailto:Ryan.Hodgman@maine.gov
mailto:jgoogins@acorn-engineering.com
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:George.Macdougall@maine.gov
mailto:Terry.BlairJr@maine.gov


From: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, November 16, 2023 4:01 PM
To: Coombs, Douglas <Douglas.Coombs@maine.gov>
Subject: Reconstruction project Route 202 Lyman

EXTERNAL: This email originated from outside of the State of Maine Mail System. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
Good afternoon,

When the information is available could you let me know who was officially awarded the bid for the
reconstruction project on Route 202. If it’s possible, could you verify if they will be using Lyman’s local roads at
all when sourcing materials. The Select Board was inquiring before they decided to approve use on the local
roads in Lyman or if they want to request a bond from DOT.

Thank you so much.

Best regards,

Lindsay Gagne

Town Manager / Town
Clerk
FOAA officer

11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002

207-247-0642 

207-499-7562

 townmanager@lyman-me.gov
   lyman-me.gov

Under Maine’s Freedom of Access (“Right to Know”) law, all e-mail and e-mail attachments received or prepared for use in matters
concerning Town business or containing information relating to Town business are likely to be regarded as public records which
may be inspected by any person upon request, unless otherwise made confidential by law. If you have received this message in
error, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Thank you for your cooperation.

This email has been scanned for spam and viruses by Proofpoint Essentials. Click here to report this
email as spam.

Security Reminder: Do not click on links or open attachments unless you verify the sender. Discern malicious
emails by looking for clues: a) a forged or look alike email address b) poor grammar or misspellings c) unusual
requests or urgency. If you are unsure, please forward the email to IT.

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:Douglas.Coombs@maine.gov
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__lyman-2Dme.gov_&d=DwMFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=qvdn-VOha-gwNEEuZLBhZ4FuBbbuymG6OyfwY9xahJc&m=W1V5eDs3ImsLyAFAZceLxAuJORdLaxd5N--3IM8sXekUjLvrOXbJYXxqKegiv_rf&s=b-P1Wl2T9rsYHlG6lOOziD9_M8G1kyBambtqW8JxeI8&e=
https://us1.proofpointessentials.com/app/report_spam.php?mod_id=11&mod_option=logitem&report=1&type=easyspam&k=k1&payload=53616c7465645f5fc703411c5b36ade76826176a3df36946f5fde3d5827ad1522efda3fbd89ed6b6a940a92147e2a8add2f43bbd225b155abe4ab59e75b42c089dece2a7dd799a25de9b674ad250ca534a6856761d886cf4a382284664abf1f166358f8ce1834337358e4c0392130e36b39cd680a9ff357a73d35527cd9bbc42013862e0e2d6eb235d9006346a4ddb9484806aba2d6b97fe6cdb6b4c71ef7ba3


From: the2randalls@twc.com
To: Town Manager
Subject: RE: Cemetery Tree Removal
Date: Monday, January 8, 2024 5:15:26 PM

Hey Lindsay, 

Yes, we do have a list of targeted cemeteries for tree removal.  I'll send it along to you, along with the
progress, and if there are any funds we anticipate needing. 

I was asked about Chadbourne Cemetery by Jeannette also.  Yes, they are private, however they do not
ask or yearly contributions for the maintenance.  Roger Rollins JR manages it, cares for it, mows it, etc. 
We have always provided flags for the cemetery.  Marie Nicol and Brad used to put the flags out, but this
year and going forward we're able to do it.  

At Chadbourne, the way it came to become important was r/t to a woman who called me and said her
husband (in his 50's or 60's) died this past year.  She goes to his plot very often and said there were large
limbs coming down on the plot and headstone and she was exhausted trying to keep up with all the brush
removal and called me.  I assured her we would take care of it.  

I contacted Roger and he said he's tried to take care of all the cemetery needs, but with all the rain, and
wind, and then mowing he wondered if the town cemetery committee could help him with that.  He was
also very concerned about 5 maples that were clearly rotting and very likely could damage many other
stones.  

So I had Joe Goff come and meet me, and Roger, to discuss the issues and what needed to be taken care
of. Once we had a list, it was submitted thru Jeannette and then to you.  We know this doesn't mean the
selectmen will pay the invoice, but it's not been an issue in the past.  

So that's the story.  

I'll get a list and the progress to you in the next few days.  

Thanks for checking in.  

Peace in 2024

Katrina

----------------------------------------
From: "Town Manager" 
To: "Katrina Randall"
Cc: "Treasurer"
Sent: Monday January 8 2024 2:40:57PM
Subject: Cemetery Tree Removal

Hi Katrina,

The board discussed the tree removal for Chadborn Cemetery at their last meeting. They were concerned

ITEM# 5: (e.) Cemetery Committee

mailto:the2randalls@twc.com
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov


about spending the funds for a private entity and for the future would want to avoid spending Town
funds on projects for private cemeteries. To which, my apologies I hadn’t realized this was a private
cemetery.

They were also curious about the Tree cutting project. Could you please provide a brief report on the
details of the project? Were there certain cemeteries assigned for this project? Have they all been
completed?

Thank you for any information you can provide.

Best regards,

Lindsay Gagne

Town Manager

FOAA officer

11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002

207-247-0642

207-499-7562
townmanager@lyman-me.gov
lyman-me.gov

Under Maine’s Freedom of Access (“Right to Know”) law, all e-mail and e-mail attachments received or prepared for use in
matters concerning Town business or containing information relating to Town business are likely to be regarded as public records
which may be inspected by any person upon request, unless otherwise made confidential by law. If you have received this message
in error, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Thank you for your cooperation.

https://lyman-me.gov/


LYMAN CEMETERY COMMITTEE TREE REMOVAL LIST 

#50 Howitt Road Cemetery.  Trees felled by BreakWood finished by Goff Tree. Completed. 

#89 Community Cemetery (OKR)    Trees felled by BreakWood. Completed. 

#9 Lord-Libby (CWR) three sides bordered by trees. Completed. 

#82 Kimball Trees felled by BreakWood and finished by Goff Tree. 

#88 Gowen (Spencer Pit) one or two large trees overhanging the plot.  Completed. 

#37 Sarah Andrews.  Completed. 

#61 Dennett. Completed. 

#79 King Smith.  Have Po.  To be completed next. 

#85 Orrin Drown on North Berwick Road (several large pines).   To be quoted after completion of #79 

#81 John Taylor (NBR) to be quoted after completion of #79. 

# 19 Grant/Jose (SWR) (five or six large trees near wires) 

#51 Butler Lot (Route 111 at the forestry garage, four very large trees) 

#70 Steve Marble’s land on Walker Road (three large trees, need owner to clear a place). 

#85 Drown (Old Kennebunk Road past Currier) four or five tall pines. 

#77 Littlefield on Walker Road (at River Run Road) clear swath on right side nearest the plot. 

#48 Gordon on Peach Orchard Road (one or two trees) can be felled, cut up and left there. 

#85 Orrin Drown on North Berwick Road (several large pines). 

#36 Hill-Elwell on Hill Road (several trees including one large pine) 

#4 Hamilton-Carll (Clarks Woods Road) several large trees.    On hold for now. 

#58 Burbank Plot (Route 111 near the old diner) three or four large trees.   On hold for now. 

# 55 Dennet-Waterhouse (Route 111) mailbox in blue barrel. On hold for now. 

#33 Valentine Hill on hold for accessibility. 

#34 Valentine Hill – Tibbets – low priority plot.   No veteran. 



LYMAN BUILDING DEPARTMENT 

11 South Waterboro Road, Lyman, Maine  04002 

Telephone: (207) 247-0647  Email:  ceo@lyman-me.gov 

Building Department Quarterly Report, Fiscal Year 23/24 

First Quarter Second Quarter 

Revisions / Renewals ...................................... 2 ....................... 0 

New Residences ............................................. 7 ....................... 9 

Mobile Homes ................................................. 1 ....................... 2 

Additional Dwelling Units ................................. 4 ....................... 2 

Garages / Accessory Buildings ...................... 20 ...................... 9 

Additions ......................................................... 7 ....................... 3 

Renovations ................................................... 10 ..................... 15 

Tree Removals ................................................ 9 ....................... 6 

Decks / Porches .............................................. 5 ....................... 6 

Solar Arrays .................................................... 6 ....................... 4 

Septic Systems .............................................. 19 ..................... 12 

Plumbing  ....................................................... 15 ..................... 14 

Electrical ........................................................ 72 ..................... 56 

TOTAL PERMITS WRITTEN ......................... 178 ................... 137 

TOTAL INSPECTIONS CONDUCTED .......... 156 ................... 160 

INSPECTION MILEAGE ........................... 1165.80 ............ 1075.68 

ITEM #6: (c.) CEO Quarterly Report

mailto:ceo@lyman-me.gov


Report to Selectmen 

Month of December 2023 

2023-2024 Tax Year 

Real Estate Tax Commitment - $7,871,329.42 

Personal Property Tax Commitment – $    39,116.55 

Total Tax Commitment: $7.910,445.97 

Supplemental Taxes YTD: $    231.61 

Abatements Granted YTD: $      5,050.32  

Prior Year(s) Abatement(s) YTD: $       58.50 

Real Estate / Personal Property Tax Payments Collected $69,265.07 
Includes Current, Delinquent, Prepayments, and Lien Payments for the month. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

Monthly Excise Tax 

Excise Tax Received 

Vehicles registered here at office:   $  78,227.95 

Online Rapid Renewal Service      13,495.98 

Total Vehicle Excise   $  91,723.93  

Boat Excise 

Boats registered here at office:   $    0.00  

Online Registration Service   $___      0.00 

Total Boat Excise    $            0.00 

Total Excise   $   9,1723.93 

Excise Tax Reimbursement      $     5,193.58    

Excise Tax Collected by State 

Year-to-date excise collection   $  669,818.40 

Respectfully submitted:  Susan J. Bellerose, Tax Collector 

ITEM #6: (d.) Tax Collection Report



From: Michelle Feliccitti
To: Town Manager; Peggy Macdonald; Don Hernon; David Alves
Subject: Comp Comittee update
Date: Friday, January 12, 2024 9:26:19 AM

Hi Lindsay!, 
We had our meeting last night.
So here is an update to give to the SB for committee reports, as well as if I am present I will
get up and speak to this.

I feel it was a great start where I think our first meeting was overwhelming.  We have decided
to break the current charter up into sections and we each are assigned to one to create survey
questions.  At our next meeting we hope to have an initial survey to launch to the residents of
Lyman as we start gathering data for the Comprehensive Plan update.

I was also able to reach out to a gentleman named Tom from the Municipal Planning
assistance to help gather the other critical data that we will need. Lyman is now on their list of
towns to get a data package this April.  He is also willing to meet with the Comp Committee
and go over the basics with us, which we plan on doing at a meeting in February.

Below is our next meeting, and we also wanted to know when do tax bills go out as we 'd like
to get an insert from the Comp Commitee in the upcoming tax bill :)

The duties of who is doing what are as follows:
SURVEY QUESTIONS PER SECTION
Housing and Land Use - Peg
Municipal Government and Services - Dave
Economy and Education - Michelle
Solid Waste and Fiscal Management - Don
*Youth Survey - secondary

Insert to tax bill and when do tax bills go out??

Next meeting Jan 25th at 6.

That's it for now!
Thanks,
Michelle

Michelle R. Felicitti, RPR
(207) 432-3114

"We all deserve to be in environments that bring out the softness in us, not the survival in us."
#liveyourbestlife

ITEM #6: (f.) Comprehensive Plan Committee Report

mailto:mfeliccitti@gmail.com
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:peggymac2013@gmail.com
mailto:dhernon@myfairpoint.net
mailto:dalves@dmabuildingcorp.com


ITEM #6: (g.) Expense Report

























Town Manager’s Progress Report 

February 5th, 2024 

Please find my progress report concerning various items of interest to the Select Board and 

community.  

Buildings and Grounds Updates 

Cameras have been installed at Kennebunk Pond and are now up and running. Remaining 

work to be done includes finishing up the beach area and installing the gate system which is 

anticipated to pick up again in the Spring. Sections of the beach area under construction have 

been marked off and posted with signage to help deter foot traffic.  

With this Winter’s recent storms there have been some downed trees at Bunganut Park and 

as the snow begins to clear we will begin to assess and evaluate any damages. For the 

remainder of the Season, the gate will be left open for access to the trails.   

Personnel policy 

A first-draft personnel policy has been developed and ready for review with the Select Board. 

The updated policy includes relevant procedures required by state and federal laws, specific 

sections as outlined by municipal charter, and other workplace guidance topics for 

employees. Although there is still more work to be done, we have a solid basis to start with 

and I’m looking forward to completing the revised policies.  Along with a Personnel Policy, 

the Municipal Charter calls for much to be developed while transitioning into a new form of 

government, including Committee Project Statements, Code of Ethics, and a Town 

Organization Document. Many of these documents have been completed and progress 

continues.   

ITEM #6: (h.) Town Manager Report



IT 

While working with IT in developing email and Microsoft share point access for committees, 

we were able to start up two groups that will be implemented to start with. In this way a 

committee can direct all emails to a core group and will have access to a share point in 

Microsoft to create and save working documents for less the cost than individual email 

accounts. We are also looking into the potential of adding a projector to the meeting room to 

provide equipment for presentations and allow committees to work constructively on active 

projects. Committees and volunteers are expressing a strong aptitude for utilizing technology 

that is strengthening peer and public engagement. Providing our volunteers access to tools 

such as livestream recording, zoom participation, and other technology access has been a 

beneficial tool certainly worth improving on.  

Committees 

The Comprehensive Plan Committee is diligently working on developing survey polls which 

will be a great starting point while gathering demographic data and community input. After 

consulting with a planner, the committee understands it would be far more advantageous 

and economical to focus efforts on the Comprehensive Plan before attempting any major 

renovations on zoning ordinances or maps. Having such input has helped determine goals for 

both the Comprehensive Plan Committee and Ordinance Review Committee.  

The Ordinance Review Committee is working towards addressing a new flood plain ordinance 

to meet requirements of federal laws, addressing ADU’s and changes in State laws, and 

reviewing contract zoning amendments. They continue to meet regularly to move things 

along in efforts to bring ordinance changes to the voters for November.  

Elections 

Effective February 1, 2024, the State has begun implementation of the new Ongoing Absentee 

Voting which allows voters over the age of 65 or who self-identify as having a disability to 

apply for status as an ongoing absentee voter. Any voter who applies for this status will 

automatically receive an absentee ballot for all state and municipal elections. Updates will be 

added to the website under “Town Meetings and Elections” info and applications to apply for 

the status are available now at the Town Hall.  

Absentee Ballots for the March 5th, 2024 Presidential Primary Election will be available starting 

February 5th until the close of business on February 29th.  



ITEM #6: (i.) Planning Board Quarterly Report





Bunganut Booth Repairs 

In the Fall the Booth at Bunganut Park was vandalized. 

Insurance will cover the cost of repairs for $4,393.59 with the Town paying a 

deductible of $1,000. The cost of the deductible can come out of either account 

listed below: 

Capital improvement Reserve Balance = $116,305 

Contingency Balance = $2,500 

Unless the Board would rather replace the booth entirely, insurance will not cover 

this expense. If the board chooses this route, funds would need to come from 

Capital Improvement.  

ITEM #7: (c.) Bunganut Booth Repairs



From: Treasurer
To: Debra Marquis
Cc: Town Manager
Subject: RE: 224P0378
Date: Wednesday, January 17, 2024 8:28:26 AM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png
image004.png

Thank you Deb.

Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer
Town of Lyman
11 So. Waterboro Rd.
Lyman, ME 04002
(207) 247-0646

From: Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org> 
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2024 8:23 AM
To: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Good morning

The deductible is $1,000.00

Thank You
Deb

Debra Marquis 
Senior Property & Casualty Claims Representative
Risk Management Services
Maine Municipal Association 
PO Box 9109
60 Community Drive 
Augusta, ME 04332-9109 
1-800-590-5583 or 207-624-0146
FAX 207-624-0112
www.memun.org <http://www.memun.org>

This e-mail message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity identified in the alias address of this message and may contain confidential
and privileged information.  Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution of this e-mail message is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this
e-mail message in error, please notify the sender immediately by reply e-mail and delete this message from your system.  Thank you.

From: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, January 17, 2024 8:18 AM
To: Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org>; Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Hi Deb, How much is the deductible for this? Thanks. Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer Town of Lyman 11 So. Waterboro Rd. Lyman, ME 04002 (207) 247-0646                                                                                             
 

mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
http://www.memun.org/
http://www.memun.org/
mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov






Hi Deb,

How much is the deductible for this?   Thanks.

Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer
Town of Lyman
11 So. Waterboro Rd.
Lyman, ME 04002
(207) 247-0646

From: Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2024 1:37 PM
To: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov>; Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Good afternoon

I have reviewed the quote and repairs needed.  We are able to pay $4,393.59 which does not take
into consideration your deductible for this repair.  I will send you a copy of the estimate completed
by Colonial Adjustment.  Once repairs are completed please let me know.

Thank You
Deb

Debra Marquis 
Senior Property & Casualty Claims Representative
Risk Management Services
Maine Municipal Association 
PO Box 9109
60 Community Drive 
Augusta, ME 04332-9109 
1-800-590-5583 or 207-624-0146
FAX 207-624-0112
www.memun.org <http://www.memun.org>

This e-mail message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity identified in the alias address of this message and may contain confidential
and privileged information.  Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution of this e-mail message is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this
e-mail message in error, please notify the sender immediately by reply e-mail and delete this message from your system.  Thank you.

From: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 16, 2024 12:51 PM
To: Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org>; Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Hi Deb, Could you give me an update on this? Thank you. Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer Town of Lyman 11 So. Waterboro Rd. Lyman, ME 04002 (207) 247-0646                                                              
 

Hi Deb,

Could you give me an update on this?   Thank you.

mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.memun.org_&d=DwMF_g&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=u7CQ9i5pGMsR0S8JL-Qeyj01-Waq_4eKOZQXqJT0CJ0&m=ExYbDUzQ9-DiQP9OcbIx79DPaqcYJHz3d3nltwv16fhQRvc7o8X5tM-6bkaStIbD&s=ugWXvmMlh6hdXCnStOgp02qFdKbip3DcGM-c-PGiYJ8&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.memun.org_&d=DwMF_g&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=u7CQ9i5pGMsR0S8JL-Qeyj01-Waq_4eKOZQXqJT0CJ0&m=ExYbDUzQ9-DiQP9OcbIx79DPaqcYJHz3d3nltwv16fhQRvc7o8X5tM-6bkaStIbD&s=ugWXvmMlh6hdXCnStOgp02qFdKbip3DcGM-c-PGiYJ8&e=
mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov


Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer
Town of Lyman
11 So. Waterboro Rd.
Lyman, ME 04002
(207) 247-0646

From: Treasurer 
Sent: Tuesday, December 5, 2023 8:09 AM
To: Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org>; Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Hi Deb,

Attached is the quote for fixing the door and window on this property.   Please let us know if you have any
questions.

Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer
Town of Lyman
11 So. Waterboro Rd.
Lyman, ME 04002
(207) 247-0646

From: Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org> 
Sent: Monday, November 27, 2023 8:37 AM
To: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov>; Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Good morning

Have you received an estimate of repair?

Thank You
Deb

Debra Marquis 
Senior Property & Casualty Claims Representative
Risk Management Services
Maine Municipal Association 
PO Box 9109
60 Community Drive 
Augusta, ME 04332-9109 
1-800-590-5583 or 207-624-0146
FAX 207-624-0112
www.memun.org <http://www.memun.org>

This e-mail message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity identified in the alias address of this message and may contain confidential
and privileged information.  Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution of this e-mail message is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this

mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.memun.org_&d=DwMF_g&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=u7CQ9i5pGMsR0S8JL-Qeyj01-Waq_4eKOZQXqJT0CJ0&m=taIVIprhnQ5-28O6wadOFRhk2kEtQ5a9k5iW-YUcUiIMZ3Mcfd57P5N5t463shF4&s=u08nVfUYsnmjX03dah1K58anQrLlF3o2pMd-0RYjKgU&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.memun.org_&d=DwMF_g&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=u7CQ9i5pGMsR0S8JL-Qeyj01-Waq_4eKOZQXqJT0CJ0&m=taIVIprhnQ5-28O6wadOFRhk2kEtQ5a9k5iW-YUcUiIMZ3Mcfd57P5N5t463shF4&s=u08nVfUYsnmjX03dah1K58anQrLlF3o2pMd-0RYjKgU&e=


e-mail message in error, please notify the sender immediately by reply e-mail and delete this message from your system.  Thank you.

From: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov> 
Sent: Monday, November 27, 2023 8:08 AM
To: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>; Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Hi Deb, There is also a side window that was smashed as well. Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer Town of Lyman 11 So. Waterboro Rd. Lyman, ME 04002 (207) 247-0646                                                                              
 

Hi Deb,

There is also a side window that was smashed as well.

Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer
Town of Lyman
11 So. Waterboro Rd.
Lyman, ME 04002
(207) 247-0646

From: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov> 
Sent: Monday, November 27, 2023 5:49 AM
To: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov>; Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Good morning, 

These were the photos sent to me. The property damaged is the “Toll Booth (lake)” building. Damage was
reported to me via phone call from a resident. Police were notified of the vandalism and went over and
inspected the incident. 

Best regards, 

Lindsay Gagne
Town Manager / Town
Clerk
FOAA officer

11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002
207-247-0642 

207-499-7562

 selectboard@lyman-me.gov 
   lyman-me.gov

Under Maine’s Freedom of Access (“Right to Know”) law, all e-mail and e-mail attachments received or prepared for use in matters
concerning Town business or containing information relating to Town business are likely to be regarded as public records which
may be inspected by any person upon request, unless otherwise made confidential by law. If you have received this message in
error, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Thank you for your cooperation.

From: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, November 21, 2023 2:16 PM
To: Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org>

mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__lyman-2Dme.gov&d=DwQFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=u7CQ9i5pGMsR0S8JL-Qeyj01-Waq_4eKOZQXqJT0CJ0&m=jViGla_XFOJeHJ3g0sjg8CYnxjI1v3PHM-jgxRWJHOtM_oTYUr6RJXG0R-lBnICo&s=TZgauYBA-ohyr6GaP7QzGb6VYeTwfponea9LqzVzLoM&e=
mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
mailto:dmarquis@memun.org


Cc: Town Manager <townmanager@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: RE: 224P0378

Hi Debra,

I have attached the police report.   I believe the Town Manager has photo’s.   I will reach out to her.   Please let
me know if you need anything else.   Thank you!

Jeanette Lemay – Treasurer
Town of Lyman
11 So. Waterboro Rd.
Lyman, ME 04002
(207) 247-0646

From: Debra Marquis <dmarquis@memun.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, November 21, 2023 2:01 PM
To: Treasurer <treasurer@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: 224P0378

Jeanette

I am handling the claim for the damage at Bunganut Park, could you please forward me the
supporting documentation such as pictures, police report, statement, and any other information
that you may have.

Thank You
Deb

Debra Marquis 
Senior Property & Casualty Claims Representative
Risk Management Services
Maine Municipal Association 
PO Box 9109
60 Community Drive 
Augusta, ME 04332-9109 
1-800-590-5583 or 207-624-0146
FAX 207-624-0112
www.memun.org <http://www.memun.org>

This e-mail message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity identified in the alias address of this message and may contain confidential
and privileged information.  Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution of this e-mail message is strictly prohibited.  If you have received this
e-mail message in error, please notify the sender immediately by reply e-mail and delete this message from your system.  Thank you.

This email has been scanned for spam and viruses by Proofpoint Essentials. Click here to report this
email as spam.

mailto:townmanager@lyman-me.gov
mailto:dmarquis@memun.org
mailto:treasurer@lyman-me.gov
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.memun.org&d=DwQFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=u7CQ9i5pGMsR0S8JL-Qeyj01-Waq_4eKOZQXqJT0CJ0&m=jViGla_XFOJeHJ3g0sjg8CYnxjI1v3PHM-jgxRWJHOtM_oTYUr6RJXG0R-lBnICo&s=8dT8xZ8Y3yVEEaGBxo-y4bjcORgYG9CxVUFdfrOvDkQ&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=http-3A__www.memun.org&d=DwQFAg&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=u7CQ9i5pGMsR0S8JL-Qeyj01-Waq_4eKOZQXqJT0CJ0&m=jViGla_XFOJeHJ3g0sjg8CYnxjI1v3PHM-jgxRWJHOtM_oTYUr6RJXG0R-lBnICo&s=8dT8xZ8Y3yVEEaGBxo-y4bjcORgYG9CxVUFdfrOvDkQ&e=
https://us5.proofpointessentials.com/index01.php?mod_id=11&mod_option=logitem&report=1&type=easyspam&k=k1&payload=53616c7465645f5f54bfd94f0b179fbb3c1a5ea6fff6736dc8d99d696d9db2f468c3ff560b85b9849f608588dda862ce0e7c126f15c6d580744c43e2f71fe765b7bc6e6c299bb7596ff3ff2c34320159d6e19bdb9cf11f447c613f2ed7e148c7bb91e27593845f376affa390e8bcdf2a17f1db56ef82822d9cb05c376ccbb52ce819680427b77559ace4de43e2d229bd6d862420af88c505156b72f3102e202e


Estimate
Date

11/22/2023

Estimate #

2102

Name / Address

Town Of Lyman
11 South Waterboro Rd
Lyman, Me04002

Bob Duling

74 Munnick Point Rd
ME 04002

Project

Total

Description Qty Rate Total

One 32 inch by 6-8 9 light  smoothstar door with new lockset. 1,300.00 1,300.00
 vinyl sliding window with screen 2 ft by 4 ft, 900.00 900.00
new t 111 siding and trim nails and materials. 500.00 500.00
Labor to remove siding and replace window and replace siding and
trim,Removal of door and install new door
  . Any rot that is found will be brought to your attention and can be
replaced at cost of $65 hr and materials.

1,560.00 1,560.00

disposal 150.00 150.00

$4,410.00



TOWN OF LYMAN

Employee Personnel 

Policy Handbook

DRAFT
ITEM #7: (d.) Draft Personnel Policy





___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

TOWN OF LYMAN 

Employee Personnel Policy Handbook 

Table of Contents 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 

1.1: Introduction and Purpose .......................................................................................... 1 

1.2: Mission Statement ........................................................................................................ 1 

1.2: Municipal Code of Ethics ............................................................................................. 2 

SECTION 2: EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT & INCLUSIVITY 

2.1: Equal Opportunity Employment .............................................................................. 2 

2:2: American’s with Disabilities Act ............................................................................. 3 

2.3: Pregnancy Worker’s Fairness Act ............................................................................ 3 

2.4: Process for sections 2.2 and 2.3................................................................................ 3 

2.5: Religious Accommodations ...................................................................................... 4 

2.6: Immigration Law Compliance .................................................................................. 5 

SECTION 3: NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT 

3.1: Non-Bullying Policy ................................................................................................. 5 

3.2: Harassment and Sexual Harassment ........................................................................ 6 

3.3: Unlawful Discrimination  ......................................................................................... 8 

3.4: Workplace Threats and Violence ............................................................................. 8 

3.5: Complaint Procedure ................................................................................................. 9 

3.6: Whistle Blower’s Protection Policy and Anti-Retaliation .................................... 10 

SECTION 4: RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT 

4.1: Recruitment Process ................................................................................................ 10 

4.2: Nepotism and Workplace Romance ....................................................................... 11 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

4.3: Employee Classification ......................................................................................... 12 

4.4: Job Descriptions ...................................................................................................... 14 

4.5: New Employee Onboarding ................................................................................... 15 

4.6: Probation .................................................................................................................. 15 

4.7: Promotion................................................................................................................. 16 

4.8: Performance Evaluation .......................................................................................... 16 

4.9: Training .................................................................................................................... 17 

4.10: Compensation ........................................................................................................ 17 

4.11: Personnel File ........................................................................................................ 18 

4.12: Resignation ............................................................................................................ 19 

4.13: Layoffs ................................................................................................................... 19 

SECTION 5: DISCIPLINE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION  

5.1: Discipline ................................................................................................................. 19 

5.2: Grievance Procedure ............................................................................................... 21 

SECTION 6: WORKPLACE GUIDELINES 

6.1: Employee Conduct and Public Relations............................................................... 23 

6.2: Professional Appearance ......................................................................................... 24 

6.3: Attendance and Punctuality .................................................................................... 25 

6.4: Confidentiality ......................................................................................................... 25 

6.5: Outside Employment ............................................................................................... 25 

6.6: Political Activity...................................................................................................... 25 

6.7: Conflict of Interest .................................................................................................. 26 

6.8: Solicitation ............................................................................................................... 27 

6.9: Town Equipment and Materials ............................................................................. 27 

6.10: Cell Phone Use ...................................................................................................... 28 

6.11: Workplace Safety .................................................................................................. 29 

6.12: Social Media Use .................................................................................................. 29 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

6.13: Technology – Acceptable Use Policy .................................................................. 29 

6.14: Purchasing Policy .................................................................................................. 29 

6.15: Inclement Weather and Emergency Closings...................................................... 30 

6.16: Drug and Alcohol Policy ...................................................................................... 30 

6.17: Smoking ................................................................................................................. 31 

SECTION 7: PAYROLL AND WORK SCHEDULES 

7.1: Payroll ...................................................................................................................... 31 

7.2: Time Cards and Time Clock ................................................................................... 32 

7.3: Discretionary Time Off for Exempt Employees ................................................... 32 

7.4: Temporary Telecommuting (Remote) Policy ........................................................ 32 

7.5: Pay at Separation ..................................................................................................... 34 

SECTION 8: BENEFITS 

8.1: Health and Life Insurance ....................................................................................... 35 

8.2: Dental and Vision Insurance................................................................................... 36 

8.3: Income Protection Plan (IPP) ................................................................................. 36 

8.4: Retirement ................................................................................................................ 36 

8.5: Open Enrollment  .................................................................................................... 37 

8.6: Worker’s Compensation ......................................................................................... 37 

8.7: Unemployment ........................................................................................................ 38 

8.8: Holidays ................................................................................................................... 38 

8.9: Paid Time Off (PTO) .............................................................................................. 38 

8.10: Employee Recognition Program .......................................................................... 40 

SECTION 9: EMPLOYEE LEAVE 

9.1: Personal days ........................................................................................................... 40 

9.2: Earned Paid Leave (EPL) ....................................................................................... 40 

9.3: Extended Sick Leave ............................................................................................... 41 

9.4: Leave for Victims of Domestic Abuse ................................................................... 42 

DRAFT



___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

9.5: Military Leave ......................................................................................................... 42 

9.6: Family Medical Leave ............................................................................................ 44 

9.7: Maine Family Medical Leave ................................................................................. 46 

9.8: Parental Leave ......................................................................................................... 46 

9.9: Bereavement ............................................................................................................ 47 

9.10: Jury Duty................................................................................................................ 47 

9.11: Life Threatening Illness ........................................................................................ 48 

9.12: Absent Without Leave .......................................................................................... 48 

SECTION 10: REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES 

10.1: Mileage Compensation Policy .............................................................................. 48 

10.2: Meals, Lodging, and Other Travel Expenses ...................................................... 49 

10.3: Parking Fees and Tolls .......................................................................................... 49 

10.4: Reimbursement Procedure .................................................................................... 50 

SECTION 11: MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1: Freedom of Access Act Policy ............................................................................. 50 

11.2: Severability ............................................................................................................ 50 

11.3: Amendment ........................................................................................................... 51 

11.4: Definitions ............................................................................................................. 51 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 1 

SECTION 1: 

 INTRODUCTION

1.1: Introduction and Purpose 

Starting a new job is exciting, but at times can be overwhelming. This Personnel Policies and 

Procedures Handbook has been developed to help you get acquainted and answer many of your 

initial questions.  

As an employee of the Town of Lyman, the importance of your contribution cannot be 

overstated. Our goal is to provide residents with the finest and most efficient service possible. 

You are an integral part of this process.  

This Employee Personnel Policy Handbook is a resource to help you understand our 

organizational needs and expectations. Our business make up is service and we will strive to 

ensure we continue to provide citizens of Lyman with excellent services in the most efficient and 

effective manner possible. For this reason, it is important all persons conducting business on 

behalf of the Town, whether of an employee, board, committee, or volunteer status are expected 

to adhere to all Town policies and procedures.  

This handbook includes policies and procedures for employee hiring and advancement, fringe 

benefits, retirement, employee leave policies, discipline and grievance processes, performance 

management, and other related policies. The policies in this handbook apply to all employees. 

These policies and procedures are not intended to and do not constitute a binding employment 

contract with any individual or group of employees. These policies and procedures are developed 

to provide reasonable assurances that all rights and benefits of employees and applicants for 

employment are protected and respected.  

The rules, regulations, policies, and procedures in this handbook constitute the Town’s Personnel 

Policy Handbook and they have been adopted for information and guidance and for use by the 

Town of Lyman Select Board, Town Manager (or Designee), Supervisor/Department Head, and 

Employees of the Town. The Town Manger (or Designee) is responsible for the administration 

of the provisions of this handbook and has the authority to take appropriate action in dealing with 

cases of violations of it.  

In implementing this handbook, the Supervisor/Department Head of the Elements of Town 

Government, with approval of the Town Manager (or Designee), are authorized to generate and 

implement departmental rules and regulations supplemental to the policies in this manual. Such 

rules and regulations bear the same authority as the policies in this handbook.  

1.2: Mission Statement 

The Town of Lyman partners with our community members to deliver superior services in the 

most effectual manner possible. We respect members of the public, each other, and treat all with 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 2 

courtesy and dignity. We rely on teamwork to provide a seamless experience for all customers. 

We uphold high standards in our personal, professional, and organizational conduct. We 

continuously strive to meet the needs of our residents through available resources by being 

flexible and promoting the use of innovation. We accept responsibility for our personal and 

organizational decisions and actions. We openly communicate with the public and each other by 

sharing information.  

Our Expectations of Excellent Services 

• Listening to your customers and team members

• Timeliness

• Effective communications

• Taking ownership

• Creating a positive, helpful, friendly environment

• Teamwork

• Going above and beyond to help customer with their needs

1.3: Municipal Code of Ethics 

The Municipal Code of Ethics applies to all Town officials whether elected, appointed, 

volunteering, or an employee of the Town. It is the responsibility of all employees to review and 

become familiar with the ethics policy and abide by it. Refer to policy labelled “Municipal Code 

of Ethics”. 

SECTION 2:  

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT & INCLUSIVITY 

2.1: Equal Opportunity Employment 

The Town is committed to a policy of equal employment opportunity to all persons based on 

individual merit, competence, and need. As an Equal Opportunity Employer, the Town of Lyman 

shall employ, upgrade, and promote the best qualified candidates who fit the mission statement 

of the Town and who are available at the salary level established for the position, without 

discrimination as to race, religion, age, sex, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation 

(including gender identity and expression), national origin or ancestry, marital status, genetic 

information, protected veteran or military status, color, pregnancy, familial status, political 

affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any other status protected by law.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 3 

This policy applies to all terms and conditions of employment including hiring, placement, 

promotion, termination, layoff, recall, transfer, leave of absence, compensation, benefits, and 

training.  

2.2: Americans With Disabilities Act 

The Town is committed to complying with all applicable provisions of the Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as amended, and RSA 354-A. It is the Town’s policy not to 

discriminate against any qualified employee or applicant with regard to any terms or conditions 

of employment because of such individual’s disability or perceived disability so long as the 

employee can perform the essential functions of the job.  

Consistent with this policy of nondiscrimination, the Town will provide reasonable 

accommodations to a qualified individual with a disability, as defined by the ADA, who has 

made the Town aware of his or her disability, provided that such accommodation does not 

constitute an undue hardship on the Town.  

The Town encourages individuals with disabilities to come forward and request reasonable 

accommodation. Employees with a disability who believe they need reasonable accommodation 

to perform the essential functions of their job should notify their Supervisor/ Department Head 

and Town Manager (or designee) as outlined in 2.4 of this section. The Town will maintain all 

medical information in a confidential manner in accordance with the ADA.  

2.3: Pregnancy Worker’s Fairness Act 

The Town does not discriminate based on pregnancy or related conditions, including lactation 

and the need to express breast milk for a nursing child, unless the discrimination is based on a 

bona fide occupational qualification. The Town also does not discriminate based on sex, which 

can include pregnancy, childbirth, and the need for maternity leave, unless discrimination is 

based on a bona fide occupational qualification.   

2.4: Process for Sections 2.2 and 2.3 

Employees who have mental or physical disabilities, or pregnancy related medical conditions 

which may impact their ability to perform the essential functions of their job, shall notify their 

Supervisor/Department Head and the Town Manager (or Designee) to request an 

accommodation. Once a request has been made, the employee, Supervisor/Department Head and 

Town Manager (or Designee) will begin the following steps: 

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) meet to

discuss potential accommodation.

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee)

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 4 

review the essential functions of the job. It may be necessary to provide a job 

description or list of essential functions to the employee’s medical provider to confirm 

the disability and the need for the accommodation. 

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) will

review options for potential accommodation and will work together to come up with

ideas that are reasonable and that do not create an undue hardship for the employer

(Town).

• In the event that a reasonable accommodation is determined, it will be documented

and placed in the employee’s medical file.

• The employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager (or Designee) will

continue to monitor the need for the accommodation to ensure there are not any issues

or concerns by either party.

• If the employee rejects the proposed accommodation, the employee may appeal

following the Town’s grievance policy and procedure.

Any individual with a disability who believes he or she have been subject to 

discrimination based on disability may discuss the complaint with the Town Manager (or 

Designee). It is unlawful for the Town, its employees, contractors, or grantees to retaliate 

against anyone who files a grievance or cooperates in the investigation of a grievance. 

2.5: Religious Accommodations 

The Town of Lyman respects the religious beliefs and practices of all employees and will make, 

on request, accommodation for such observances when a reasonable accommodation is available 

that does not create undue hardship for the Town.  

An employee whose religious beliefs or practices conflicts with their job, work schedule, or other 

aspects of employment, and who seeks a religious accommodation must submit a written request 

for the accommodation to their immediate Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or 

Designee). The written request will include the type of religious conflict that exists and the 

employee’s recommendation of accommodation.  

The Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (Or Designee) will review the request and 

consider whether a conflict exists due to a sincerely held religious belief or practice and whether 

an accommodation is available that is reasonable and that would not create an undue hardship on 

the Town.  

The Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) will meet with the employee 

and discuss the merits of the accommodation and conclusion of a decision. If the employee 

accepts the proposed religious accommodation, the Supervisor/ Department Head and Town 

Manager (or Designee) will implement the decision agreed upon. If the employee rejects the 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 5 

proposed accommodation, the employee may appeal following the Town’s grievance policy and 

procedure.  

2.6: Immigration Law Compliance 

The Town only employs United States citizens and Non United States citizens authorized to 

work in the United States. In compliance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1968, 

it is against Town policy to discriminate in any aspect of employment of a person authorized to 

work in the United Staes based on the person’s national origin, citizenship, or intent to become a 

U.S. citizen. In accordance with federal law, every prospective employee is required to provide 

to sign a verification attesting that he or she is legally employable in the United States. The 

Town retains copies of these documents submitted/signed by an employee. To the extent 

practical and appropriate, these documents will be kept confidential. However, on request, the 

Town is required to provide copies of these documents to the U.S Department of Labor and to 

the Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS). 

Providing false documentation or making any false statement related to this verification shall be 

grounds for immediate discharge. And, if during the course of employment, the Town requests 

further information relating to an employee’s authorization to work in the United Staes, the 

employee must furnish the information requested. Failure to cooperate in providing such 

information shall be grounds for discipline, up to and including termination.  

SECTION 3:  

NON-DISCRIMINATION AND HARRASSMENT 

3.1: Non-Bullying Policy 

The purpose of this policy is to communicate to all employees, including elected officials, that 

the Town will not tolerate any instance of bullying behavior. Employees found in violation of 

this policy will be disciplined up to and including termination.  

The Town defines bullying as repeated inappropriate behavior, either verbal, physical, or 

otherwise, conducted by one or more persons against another or others at the place of work or in 

the course of employment. The Town will not tolerate bullying behavior. Employees have the 

right not to be bullied, harassed, or victimized and have the right to work in a safe environment 

free from hostility.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 6 

Examples of bullying include the following types of behavior: 

Physical Bullying: Pushing, shoving, hitting, poking, tripping, assault or threat of physical 

assault; damage to a person’s work area or property. 

Verbal Bullying: Making abusive or offensive remarks; persistent name calling that is hurtful, 

insulting, or humiliating; making defamatory statements, slandering, ridiculing, or maligning a 

person or the persons family; using the person as the butt of a joke.  

Gesture Bullying: Non-verbal threatening body language or gestures; glances that convey 

threatening message.  

Exclusion: Socially or physically excluding or disregarding a person in work-related activities. 

Additionally, the following examples may constitute or contribute to evidence of bullying in the 

workplace: 

• Shouting or raising voice at an individual in public or in private.

• Making threats of harm or intimidation whether verbal, non-verbal, or in writing.

• Persistent singling out of an individual

• Spreading rumor and gossip regarding individuals.

• Making verbal remarks or obscene gestures.

• Public humiliation in any form.

• Constant criticism of matters unrelated or minimally related to the person’s job

performance or job description.

• Blocking, cornering, or crowding a person to cause intimidation.

• Personal insults and use of offensive slander.

• Ignoring or interrupting an individual in meetings

• Public reprimands

• Encouraging others to disregard a supervisor’s or designee’s instructions.

Bullying is NOT: Expressing differences of opinions; offering constructive feedback, guidance, 

or advice about work-related behavior; or reasonable action taken by an employer or supervisor 

relating to the management and direction of employees or place of employment (i.e. managing an 

employee’s performance, taking reasonable disciplinary actions, assigning work). 

3.2: Harassment and Sexual Harassment 

The Town of Lyman is committed to maintaining a work environment free from all forms of 

harassment and intimidation. Harassment is prohibited in connection with any employee activity 

including, but not limited to, relations with other employees, supervisors, prospective employees, 

clients, vendors, elected officials, appointees, or members of the public. Reports of harassment 

will be promptly investigated. Employees found in violation of this policy will be disciplined up 

to and including termination. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 7 

The Town expects that all relationships among persons in the work environment will be 

professional and conduct themselves in a business-like manner. The Town strictly prohibits and 

does not tolerate any type of harassment, sexual, or otherwise in the form of unwelcomed or 

unwarranted verbal, physical, or visual conduct of its employees based on the protected 

characteristics of race, religion, age, sex, physical or mental disability, sexual orientation 

(including gender identity and expression), national origin, genetic pre-disposition, color, 

political affiliation, whistleblower activity, or any other status protected by law.  

Definitions of Sexual Harassment 

Sexual Harassment: Unwelcomed and inappropriate sexual remarks, gestures, visual displays, or 

physical advances in the workplace or other professional situation.  

Quid Pro Quo: Harassment that occurs when submission or rejection of such conduct is used as 

the basis for employment decisions affecting an individual, such as promotions in exchange for 

sexual favors, or an unfavorable change of duties in response to rejected sexual advances.  

Hostile Work Environment: Unwelcomed sexual conduct which creates an intimidating, hostile, 

or offensive work environment, or interferes with an individual’s work performance. Conduct 

which is not sexual in nature may still create a sexually hostile work environment if it is based on 

the victim’s gender. Such instances may include physical or verbal abuse based on gender, 

exclusion or isolation of the individual, or tampering with belongings.  

Definitions of Harassment 

Behavior which is offensive and intrusive creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, or 

humiliating environment towards an individual because of their race, religion, age, sex, color, 

gender identity or expression, sexual orientation, national origin, disability, marital status, 

citizenship, genetic information, or any other characteristic protected by law.  

Sexual and other types of harassment may take many forms. Such forms may include, but are not 

limited to: 

• Unwelcome sexual advances, gestures, comments, or contact.

• Offensive material including sexually explicit cartoons, pictures, drawings, videos,

objects, or other communications including email, internet programs, blogs, or websites.

• Offensive or sexual jokes.

• Pinchin, grabbing, sexual assault, or any physical contact of a sexual nature.

• Threats.

• Subjecting employees to ridicule, slurs, or derogatory actions.

• Basing employment decisions or practices on submission to such harassment

• Deliberate blocking of a person’s path

• Non-verbal sexual behavior, such as staring or leering at a person’s body.

• Use of derogatory stereotypes.

• Refusal to cooperate with employees in performing work-related tasks.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 8 

Unwelcome harassment of any kind need not occur in the workplace to be unlawful if the 

harassment activity creates a hostile or offensive work environment, the activity may constitute 

actionable harassment regardless of where it occurs.  

3.3: Unlawful Discrimination 

The Civil Rights Act of 1964 prevents discrimination in the workplace. Any discrimination 

based on a protected class is illegal with regard to race, religion, national, social, or ethnic 

origins, sex (including pregnancy). Age (over 400, physical, mental, or sensory disability. Sexual 

orientation, gender identity or expression, marital status, past or present military service, genetic 

information, familial status, whistleblower activity, and any other status protected by state and 

federal law. All such complaints will be addressed and if necessary, appropriate action will be 

taken.  

Employees should report any discrimination immediately to their Supervisor/Department Head 

and Town Manager (or Designee) and are protected from retaliation in any form. All complaints 

of retaliation will be investigated promptly, and remedial action will be taken.  

3.4: Workplace Threats and Violence 

It is vitally important to the Town to protect the safety and security of employees and the public 

who conduct business in municipal buildings/facilities. Any threats, threatening behavior, or acts 

of violence against employees, visitors, guests, or other individuals by anyone on Town property 

will not be tolerated. Violations of this policy will lead to disciplinary action up to and including 

termination, and if otherwise necessary, arrest and/or prosecution.  

Any person who makes substantial threats, exhibits threatening behavior, or engages in violent 

acts on Town Property shall be requested to leave immediately, and if warranted removed by law 

enforcement. The Town will investigate reported incidents and initiate an appropriate response, 

which may include, but is not limited to, suspension and/or termination of employment, and/or 

criminal prosecution of the person or persons involved.  

No existing Town policy, practice, or procedure should be interpreted to prohibit decisions 

designed to prevent a threat from being carried out, a violent act from occurring, or a life-

threatening situation from developing.  

Employees are responsible for making a report regardless of the relationship between the 

individual who initiated the threat or threatening behavior. Even without an actual threat any 

behavior an employee has witnessed that they regard is job related or may be carried out on 

Town-owned property or is connected to Town employment should be reported. Employees shall 

file a report of the incident as soon they are reasonably able to and direct reports to the Town 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 9 

Manger (or Designee). Reports shall include specific details of an event to be investigated. The 

report shall include such information as: 

• Name of the individual making the threat or engaging in violent acts

• Relationship to organization and/or recipient

• Name of other persons involved including witnesses and victims.

• A brief description of the event including antecedents leading up to the incident.

• Any specific threats or language and/or physical acts of the incident

The Town of Lyman recognizes the sensitivity of the information and will exercise all 

procedures in a confidential manner and respect the privacy of reporting employees and any 

victims involved.  

3.5: Complaint Procedure 

The Town of Lyman respects employees’ rights to a safe and professional work environment. An 

employee, whether being the recipient of bullying, harassment, sexual harassment, or 

discrimination, is witness to, or otherwise becomes aware of such misconduct that is prohibited 

by this policy is encouraged to file a report.  

Internal complaints may be filed by contacting the Supervisor/Department Head and Town 

Manager (or Designee). It is the responsibility of the Town Manager (or Designee) to respond to 

complaints promptly, evaluate appropriate corrective action, and maintain confidentiality of all 

parties involved. Corrective action is required regardless of whether a complaint is made, or the 

conduct appears to be unwelcome. Even if the person providing information requests that no 

action be taken, the Town Manager (or Designee) must engage to actively prevent or stop 

inappropriate, unprofessional conduct in the workplace. 

The Town will not tolerate discrimination, bullying, or harassment of any kind. Every effort will 

be made to resolve the complaint at the lowest level possible. If an investigation is warranted, it 

will be conducted promptly and with confidentiality, respecting the rights of the parties involved. 

All employees are required to cooperate fully in any investigation of alleged discrimination, 

bullying or harassment. Any report of alleged misconduct that is made in a knowingly false or 

frivolous manner is prohibited, will not be tolerated, and will be appropriately addressed should 

it occur, including possible disciplinary action.  

If an employee believes they are being harassed or discriminated against, they have the right to 

file a complaint with the Human Rights Commission (MHRC) within six months of the unlawful 

act or unlawful discrimination. To file a charge or obtain more information on the procedure, 

contact the Commission at (207)-624-6290 or by mail at: Human Rights Commission 51 State 

Street Augusta, ME 04333-0051 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 10 

3.6: Whistle Blower’s Protection Policy and Anti-Retaliation 

The Town of Lyman encourages its employees to report illegal, unethical or violation of Town 

policies and procedures by municipal officers, or employees and protects Town employees who 

report improper government actions. Any employee who is aware of a violation of the law, or 

condition or practice that risks any person’s health and/or safety, is required to immediately 

report the circumstances to the Town Manager (or Designee). Employees must provide 

information about the issue and allow a reasonable time for it to be corrected. The employee will 

be requested to provide a detailed report in writing. The Town Manager (or Designee) will 

investigate the report promptly and act in a timely manner to take any necessary remedial action. 

Employees who report any violations are protected from retaliation from all other employes and 

supervisors. Violations of this policy may result in appropriate disciplinary action up to and 

including termination.  

SECTION 4:  

RECRUITMENT AND EMPLOYMENT 

4.1: Recruitment Process 

It is the Town Manager’s (or Designee) duty to hire and appoint all employees of the Town 

pursuant to Section 4.3 of the Municipal Charter. The Town Manger’s office coordinates and 

oversees the recruitment, interview, and selection process. Within the limits of time in which a 

position is filled, there shall be as wide a search for qualified candidates as is practicable. The 

character of this search will vary from position to position but shall consist of an internal posting 

in Town departments, and may include external advertising, open competitive examination, 

contact with State and other employment offices, contact with special sources of information, or 

any combination. It shall be the duty of the Town Manager (or Designee) to seek out the most 

qualified employees for the Town based on relative knowledge, skills, abilities, overall 

performance and ability to aptly suit the Town’s Mission Statement. It is the Town Manager’s 

(or Designee) duty to keep the Board apprised of all vacancies and the status of filling those 

vacancies.  

Municipal Officials may select deputies as authorized by State law, however, appointment of 

deputies must be approved by the Town Manager (Section 4.3 (c) of the Municipal Charter). 

The recruitment process of the Town Manager is the responsibility of the Select Board as 

outlined in Article 4.1 of the Municipal Charter. 

Employment Applications: All candidates are required to complete a Town of Lyman 

employment application regardless of whether supporting documentation is provided. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 11 

Applications for employment shall be submitted on forms provided by the Town. Applications 

are only accepted for positions in which a posted vacancy exists.  

Conditional Offer of Employment: The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) coordinates all 

conditional offers of employment. Conditional offers of employment are approved by the Town 

Manager (or Designee) and provided to the candidate in writing. The conditional offer of 

employment outlines the specific and applicable requirements, based on the nature of the job, 

which must be met in order for the person to be hired. Examples of conditions of hire may 

include the applicant’s ability to pass a criminal records check or any other lawful pre-

employment screenings. The cost of any conditions of employment is the responsibility of the 

Town.  

Offer of Employment: Upon satisfactory completion of all conditions of employment, a written 

offer of employment is extended. After the offer of employment is signed and returned, the 

Town Manager (or Designee) will coordinate the on-boarding process with the appropriate 

Supervisor/Department Head. 

The Town is committed to providing an equitable and competitive compensation package that 

will attract and retain well-qualified employees.  

4.2: Nepotism and Workplace Romance 

The Town of Lyman wants to ensure that employment practices do not create conflicts of interest 

or favoritism based on employment of relatives. This extends to practices that involve employee 

hiring, promotion, advancement, and transfer.  

The employment of relatives in an organization may present a perceived or actual conflict of 

interest such as favoritism, personal conflicts, and potential conflicts from outside the work 

environment that are carried into the workplace.  

For the purpose of this policy, a relative is defined as someone with whom there has been or is a 

significant personal relations, including, but not limited to, a spouse, domestic partner, cohabiter 

(romantic partner/significant other), parent, child, sibling, sibling in-law, parent in-law, 

grandparent, aunt, uncle, niece, or nephew who is related by blood, marriage, adoption or some 

other relationship, as further defined below: 

Blood Relative: Someone who is related to you by birth rather than marriage or another 

relationship.  

Spouse: A legally married person 

Domestic Partnership: Legal declaration per public law 2003, c.672. Two unmarried adults who 

are domiciled together under long-term arrangements that evidence a commitment to remain 

responsible indefinitely for each other’s welfare.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 12 

Cohabiter: To live together as if married, usually without legal sanction. 

This policy applies to all current employees and candidates for employment. 

To that end, 

• Relatives of those currently employed by the Town may be hired only if they will not be

working directly for or supervising a relative. Under circumstances where there may be a

conflict with this provision the Town Manager (or Designee) shall review such special

circumstances and may waive such provision on a temporary basis.

• Current employees may not be promoted, advanced, or transferred into a position where

they will be working directly for or supervising a relative.

• For the purpose of this section, a direct Supervisor/Department Head is defined as

overseeing the daily performance of the employee and has the authority to recommend or

exercise discipline, promotion, and rewards.

Workplace Romance 

To avoid actual or potential conflicts, sexual harassment, and other adverse impacts on the work 

environment that may result from romantic and/or physical relationships within the workplace, 

the Town prohibits Supervisor/Department Head employees from becoming romantically or 

physically involved with employees directly under their supervision. In the event a 

Supervisor/Department Head develops a personal relationship with a subordinate in the course of 

employment with the Town, those employees shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or 

designee) who will take further action as necessary and appropriate under the circumstances. 

Supervisor/Department Head employees who violate this policy may be subject to disciplinary 

action. In the event that coworkers, neither of whom are in a supervisory role with one another, 

develop a personal relationship in the course of employment with the Town, the employees shall 

immediately report to the Town Manager (or designee).  

4.3: Employee Classification 

The Fair Labor Standards Act requires the classification of all employees according to the 

overtime provisions of the law. For purposes of paying any compensation, all employees are 

either “Exempt” or “Non-Exempt” from overtime compensation. All determinations of wage 

classification status are made through the job evaluation process. The Town Manager (or 

designee) is responsible for classifying all employees.  

Exempt Employees: Are generally executives, managers, professionals, Department Heads, 

administrative or outside of sales staff who are exempt from minimum wage and overtime 

provisions of the FLSA. Exempt employees hold jobs that meet the standards and criteria 

established under the FLSA by the US Department of Labor. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 13 

Non-Exempt Employees: Are employees whose work is covered by the FLSA. They are not 

exempt from the law’s requirement concerning minimum wage and overtime. 

Employee Classification: It is the intent of the town to clarify the definitions of employment 

classifications so that employees understand their employment status and benefits eligibility. 

These classifications do not guarantee employment for any specified period of time. 

Employees of the following classifications are subject to all personnel policy rules and 

regulations, except where specifically excluded. 

A. REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEE: A regular full-time position is year-round in

nature with no predetermined end date and scheduled to work no less than 32 hours

per week on a continuing and indefinite basis. The employee is eligible to receive all

employee benefits and rights as provided by this personnel policy.

B. REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: Regular part-time position is year-round in

nature with no predetermined end date and scheduled to work at least 20 hours per

week but less than 32 hours per week on a continuing and indefinite basis. An

employee in this category may work more than 30 hours per week sporadically for a

short duration under certain circumstances but may not work more than 130 hours in

a 4-week period. Regular part-time employees who work 20 or more hours per week

on a continual and indefinite basis are eligible to receive Earned Paid Leave (EPL),

the Town’s 457 (b) Retirement Plan per section 8.4, and paid holidays but only if the

holiday falls on a day that the employee is regularly scheduled to work.

C. VARIABLE HOUR PART-TIME EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category does

not work a consistent schedule from week to week but is generally actively employed

on a year-round basis. The employee usually works under 20 hours per week but may

work over 20 hours per week sporadically and on occasion due to the nature of the

work. Variable hour part-time employees are not eligible for Town benefits except

those mandated by State or Federal law, nor do they accrue Paid Time Off (PTO), or

received holiday pay. An example of variable hour part-time employees are: Planning

Board members, Zoning Board of Appeals.

D. TEMPORARY SEASONAL EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category works a

standard work week or less on a regular basis but for a limited period of time, usually

not to exceed six months. Temporary employees are paid for hours worked and

receive no other benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law. Examples of

temporary seasonal employees are: Summer laborers and Summer Camp Counselors.

E. PER DIEM EMPLOYEE: An employee in this category works a variable and flexible

schedule. Work hours vary from week to week depending on the department’s needs

and the availability of the employee. An employee of this type is not eligible for

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 14 

Town benefits except those mandated by State or Federal law. Examples of per diem 

employees are: Election/Ballot Clerks.  

Volunteers and Elected Officials 

All volunteers and elected officials are expected to adhere to the Municipal Code of Ethics and 

the Town’s Acceptable Use policy. While some appointees to boards, committees, and 

commissions may fall under an employee classification of this policy, all Board, Committee, and 

Commission members are expected to follow guidelines, procedures, and policies described in 

the Town’s Boards and Committee Handbook in addition to all Town policies and procedures.  

A. APPOINTEES TO BOARDS, COMMITTEES, AND COMMISSIONS: People

appointed to serve in positions on Boards, Committees, or Commissions where there is

no compensation are not employees but volunteers providing service to the Lyman

community. Recruitment of appointees to boards, committees, and commissions, whether

classified as an employee or as a volunteer, is as outlined in the Recruitment and

Appointment of Volunteers Policy and in accordance with Municipal Charter Section

5.1.2.

B. TOWN SELECT BOARD: Members of the Town Select Board are officers of the

municipal corporation and are not considered employees. Members of the Select Board

are eligible for compensation as established by the Municipal Charter (Section 3.2).

C. ELECTED OFFICIALS: All other Elected Official are not considered employees and are

exempt from the personnel policy handbook and any benefits allotted herein. However,

any elected official is strongly encouraged to adhere to anti-discrimination, harassment,

non-bullying, workplace violence and other policies related to Town-owned assets,

workplace conduct, and treatment of employees. The Town may take any necessary

action against an elected official who violates any Town policy.

4.4: Job Descriptions 

The Town Manager (or Designee) maintains job descriptions for all positions. Job descriptions 

are utilized in all postings and advertisements for job openings.  

Job descriptions will contain the following information: 

• Position details Title, department, exempt or non-exempt status, classification.

• Supervision received and exorcised.

• Essential duties and responsibilities.

• Peripheral or Special duties (if applicable)

• Education and experience qualifications

• Knowledge, skills, and abilities qualifications.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 15 

• Physical requirements and work environment.

The Town Manager (Or Designee) will review job descriptions on a periodic basis and determine 

modifications.  For employee positions that are under the supervision of a 

Supervisor/Department Head, the Town Manager (or Designee) may solicit recommendations 

from the Supervisor/Department Head. The Town Manager (or Designee) has final approval of 

all changes and revisions to job descriptions. The Select Board has final approval on all changes 

and revisions to the Town Manger’s job description.  

4.5: New Employee Onboarding 

The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) will oversee and coordinate with the employee to 

provide onboarding materials such as: 

• Review of Employee Personnel Policies and Procedures, including all other policies

outside of this policy handbook that are herein referenced under relevant sections.

• Review of employee’s job description

• Review of Municipal Code of Ethics

• Review of the Town’s Acceptable Use Policy

• Review of employee benefits and applications, tax withholding and I-9 forms

• Review of building access, security codes, and keys.

• Review of training programs available and applicable to the employee’s position.

• Review of probationary period

4.6: Probation 

All Regular Full-Time and Part-Time employees are considered probationary employees for the 

first six (6) months of employment unless otherwise provided for by law. During the 

probationary period, the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) shall 

conduct an evaluation at or before the completion of six months of employment. The purpose of 

the probationary period is for the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) 

to observe an employee’s work habits, skills, attitudes, competency, and other pertinent 

characteristics for successful job performance. Any Regular Full-Time or Part-Time employee 

who receives a promotion or transfer may be required to serve another probationary period. The 

probationary period shall be considered an extension of the selection process.  

During the probationary period, the Supervisor/Department Head may recommend to the Town 

Manager (or Designee) that an employee be removed if unable or unwilling to perform the duties 

of the position satisfactorily or whose work habits and dependability did not merit the 

continuance of services. Such removal will not be subject to review or appeal.  
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 16 

At the time of hiring, transfer, or promotion, the employee shall be advised of the probationary 

period.  

Performance Appraisal Process for Probationary Employees During the probationary period, 

employees may receive written evaluation(s) at two months, four months, and six months of their 

employment (or any combination thereof as necessary). The Town Manager (or Designee) will 

review the evaluations. If applicable the Supervisor/Department Head will give a 

recommendation to the Town Manager (or Designee) regarding continuance of employment. The 

Town Manager (or Designee) shall conduct reviews of Department Head employees.  

4.7: Promotion 

Town employees shall be given the opportunity for advancement. Employees shall be given first 

consideration in filling a vacancy when qualified employees express an interest in the vacancy. 

Upon approval by the Town Manager (or Designee), an existing employee may fill a vacant 

position without posting the position for external advertising. Employees may not be promoted to 

a new position without loss of seniority, pay, or job grade to a vacant position. The Town 

Manager (or Designee) may authorize reclassifications and/or job title changes when appropriate 

outside of the normal selection process.  

Current employees may be given training opportunities to qualify for promotions. However, 

based on qualifications, experience, and abilities required for the position, the vacancy may be 

filled by an outside applicant. Such a decision shall be made only after careful review of the 

qualifications of all Town employees who apply for the position.  

4.8: Performance Evaluations 

The Supervisor/Department Head shall be responsible for the implementation of employee 

performance evaluations. The Town Manager (or Designee) shall evaluate the performance of 

Supervisor/Department Heads.  

The annual evaluation period is January 1 through December 31. Regular full-time and part-time 

employees are evaluated on an annual basis. The performance evaluation shall include a goal 

setting process for the upcoming calendar year.  

Supervisors/Department Heads and the Town Manager (or Designee) should provide frequent 

and periodic feedback to the employee on job performance. To assist employees in improving 

their job performance, various tools such as training and implementing performance 

improvement plans may be utilized.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 17 

Written performance evaluations shall be completed at least annually around the same time 

through the months of December to January for full-time and part-time employees. Employee 

evaluations must be signed by the employee, Supervisor/Department Head, and Town Manager 

(or designee). An employee may attach a written statement within ten (10) calendar days after 

any evaluation given to be included in their personnel file.  

All job-related employee performance evaluations are strictly confidential and shall only be 

between the Supervisor/Department Head, Town Manager (or Designee) and the employee. 

Unless in the event that disciplinary action and/or complaints are at the level of the Select Board 

and/or Fair Hearing Board, only then, will the Select Board and/or Fair Hearing Board have 

access to the employee’s performance evaluations. Only individuals who have a job-related 

interest in reviewing an employee’s performance evaluation shall have access to the document. 

(i.e. Supervisor/Department Head, Town Manger (or Designee)). 

4.9: Training 

Both the Town and its employees benefit from training opportunities reasonably related to the 

employee’s current position. The outcome of training opportunities is to improve the quality of 

an employee’s job performance, which in turn results in more efficient and effective operations. 

It shall be the responsibility of the Town Manager (or Designee) to provide Town employees 

with reasonable opportunities for in-service training and attendance at conferences.  

Prior approval by the Supervisor/Department Head and Town Manager (or Designee) is required 

for the course/conference fee and any accommodation reasonably necessary. The approval is 

subject to available and approved funds in the budget, the relationship of the employee’s position 

and training must be in the best interest of the Town. The Town Manger (or Designee) and 

Supervisor/Department Head shall authorize employee attendance at out-of-state conferences 

based on available funds and conditions determined by the Town Manager (or Designee).   

4.10: Compensation 

PAY DATES:  Employees are paid bi-weekly, with the pay week from Thursday through 

Wednesday. Deductions are taken out each pay period, with insurance premiums deducted based 

on a two-pay month.  

PAY RANGES: The Town Manager (or Designee) will prepare pay ranges for all employees in 

accordance with the approved budget. Each pay range will reflect knowledge, skills, abilities, 

and responsibilities and shall be related to compensation for comparable positions in other public 

and private employment. Individual rate changes or re-assignments must be approved by the 

Town Manager (or Designee) and signed by the employee. The Town Manager will advise the 

Board as needed and submit an updated list of pay rates/ranges to the Board as part of the annual 

budget process.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 18 

OVERTIME: Any time actually worked in excess of forty (40) hours in one work week shall be 

compensated by overtime pay at a rate of time and one-half, with the exception of Exempt 

Employee’s.  

ANNUAL ADJUSTMENT: Any salary or wage adjustment based on the Cost of Living 

Adjustment (COLA) will commence on July 1 of each respective year in accordance with the 

approved municipal budget. The Town Manager (or Designee) may recommend a COLA 

adjustment to the Board, subject to voter approval, taking into consideration the Town’s staffing 

patterns, the relevant labor market, the rate of inflation, and adjustments to compensation 

packages. Due to budget constraints, economic downturns, or other circumstances and events, 

the Town Manager (or Designee) may choose not to recommend a COLA adjustment, nor 

guarantee that levels will remain the same. COLA is not a guaranteed rate and may be changed 

from the Town Manager’s (or Designee) recommendation through the Budget process.  

PERFORMANCE BASED MERIT PROGRAM: The Town Manger (or Designee) may each 

year at his or her discretion establish a performance based merit program in order to recognize 

the positive performance of employees. The program will be dependent on available funding. 

Merit raises will be awarded as determined in writing by the Town Manager (or Designee). Merit 

raises will be based on an employee’s annual performance evaluation. Annual performance 

evaluations shall begin December of each year, during the budget process.  

(Note: SB will need to determine if giving merit raises or not and how (ie: stipend, pay increase) 

4.11: Personnel File 

The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) is responsible for maintaining a centralized personnel 

file for all employees. Supervisors/Department Heads are required to provide the Town 

Manger’s office (or Designee) personnel paperwork provided by an employee. Access to an 

employee’s personnel file are limited to the employee, the Town Manager (or Designee), Legal 

Counsel, and other personnel determined to have a legitimate need to know.  

Employees may review their personnel file by forwarding a written request to the Town 

Manger’s office (or Designee). Personnel files may not be removed from Town Property and are 

reviewed by the employee in the presence of the Town Manager (or designee). Upon written 

request, employees shall receive one copy of their personnel file at the cost to the Town per 

annum (M.R.S.A 26:7 ss 631). If the employee wishes for an additional copy during the calendar 

year, it will be at the expense of the employee.  

The Town Manger’s office (or Designee) maintains all personnel files for terminated employees 

as specified by State and Federal retention laws. Any request for information made under the 

Maine Freedom of Access Act shall be forwarded to the Town Manager (or Designee).  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 19 

4.12: Resignation 

Employees who are considering resignation from their position with the Town are encouraged to 

discuss the situation with the Town Manager (or Designee). An employee who chooses to resign 

is required to submit their resignation to the Town Manager (or Designee) in writing and provide 

at least ten (14) working days’ notice. The Town Manager (or Designee) will meet with the 

employee to conduct an exit interview and discuss such matters as the final paycheck and 

benefits status.  

Under certain circumstances and situations, the Town Manager (or Designee) has the authority to 

accept verbal resignations. Pay at separation procedure is as outlined in section 7.5 of this 

Personnel Policy Handbook  

4.13: Layoffs 

An employee may be laid off whenever is necessary because of a shortage of funds, lack of 

work, or other related reasons, which do not reflect discredit upon the employee. Layoff 

decisions shall be based on the needed skill set in each job classification. Seniority within the 

department may be considered as appropriate.  

If the layoff is temporary in nature with the intention to re-employ an employee as soon as 

possible, coverage in Town sponsored benefits such as health, dental, and vision may continue 

for 90 days. However, retirement contributions ceases until such a time when the employee 

returns to regular full-time employment.  

SECTION 5:  

DISCIPLINE AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

5.1: Discipline 

The Town shall base disciplinary actions or measures on a “just cause” basis. Under normal 

circumstances, the Town endorses a policy of progressive discipline to provide employees with 

notice of deficiencies and an opportunity to improve. All discipline, including verbal warning, 

must be documented appropriately and specify reason(s) and actions necessary for improvement. 

Supervisors/Department Heads and the Town Manager (or Designee) should inform the 

employee promptly and specifically of such lapses of employee conduct. The Town expects 

employees to comply with its standards of conduct and performance and to correct any 

noncompliance with these standards.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 20 

Types of Action Outlined below are the Town’s progressive discipline procedures. The Town 

reserves the right to combine or skip steps depending on the facts of each situation and the nature 

of the offense. 

1. Verbal warning

2. Written warning

3. Suspension

4. Termination

Verbal and Written Warnings: Identify each issue of discipline, as well as the appropriate 

corrective measures to be taken by the employee (including their time frame for completion) in 

order for the Town to consider each issue as resolved. Supervisors/Department Heads are 

responsible for communicating warnings after consultation with the Town Manager (or 

Designee). 

Suspension of Employment: Is a period of paid or unpaid leave during which the employee is 

relieved of duty and will not be permitted at the job site or act in the capacity of their duties. This 

action is taken when performance, conduct, or safety incidents necessitate a review. When 

immediate action is necessary to ensure the safety of the employee or others, the 

Supervisor/Department Head shall immediately report to the Town Manager (or Designee). All 

suspensions are subject to approval from the Town Manager (or Designee). 

Termination of employment: May be necessary in cases where corrective actions have failed to 

improve performance, obtain compliance with Town policies, and/or correct inappropriate 

conduct. Under no circumstances shall an employee be terminated without Town Manager (or 

Designee) approval. If immediate removal from the work site is necessary, the employee shall be 

suspended pending review.  

This policy does not provide contractual rights regarding employee discipline or counseling, nor 

should anything in this policy be read or construed as modifying or altering the employment-at-

will relationship between the Town and its employees. Any time the Town determines it is 

necessary, such as in the case of a major breach of policy or violation of law, the Town reserves 

the right to immediately proceed to appropriate action, up to and including termination.  

Paid Administrative Leave 

When the situation warrants, the Town may consider paid administrative leave, which is a non-

disciplinary action that allows the Town to remove the employee from the workplace for reasons 

other than disciplinary issues, such as when an investigation is conducted or when there is a 

safety concern in the workplace. Notice of paid administrative leave shall provide the cause, time 

frame, and conditions for reinstatement. As previously stated, paid administrative leave is not 

considered to be in and of itself discipline.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 21 

Documentation 

If a disciplinary action is taken, a copy of the decision regarding the action shall be filed in the 

employee’s personnel file and a copy given to the employee. The employee will be asked to sign 

copies of this documentation attesting to his or her receipt and understanding of the corrective 

action outlined in these documents. The employee has the right to respond in writing and to have 

this response placed in the employee’s personnel file but must do so within ten (10) calendar 

days of the date of the corrective action. Any disciplinary action that is removed must also have 

the employee’s response removed at the same time. The employee may request that disciplinary 

action be removed from the personnel file: 

A. When all corrective action has been taken and a re-review of the disciplinary decision has

shown significant improvement.

B. The employee may request a re-review of the disciplinary decision after a period of five

(5) years.

C. Unless the disciplinary decision is termination, then the record(s) shall remain on file per

State and Federal retentions laws.

5.2: Grievance Procedure 

Grievances are disputes, claims, or complaints of issues relating to the employer-employee 

relationship. The procedures outlined below allow Town employees to receive a fair and 

unbiased review of workplace concerns. As outlined below, every effort must be made to 

reconciliate disputes at the lowest level possible before any complaint or grievance is brought to 

a higher level. The Town Manager’s office (or Designee) maintains records of grievances 

confidentially and securely. In the event of employee termination, after such termination has 

been made final by the Select Board, no grievance procedure under this policy shall apply.  

A. Informal Discussion: The employees’ concerns should first be discussed with the

Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Many concerns can be

resolved informally when an employee and Supervisor/Department Head meet to review

and discuss options to address the issue.

B. Written Complaint:

I. If a grievance is not resolved after an informal discussion with the employee’s

Supervisor/Department Head, the employee may submit a written complaint within

five (5) work days of the incident to the Town Manager (or Designee) to include:

• A concise explanation of the grievance and details of all previous efforts to

resolve the issue.

• Detailed information including evidence of the issue, related policies, etc.

• The remedy or outcome desired.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 22 

The Town Manager (or Designee) will have five (5) work days to respond to the 

employee in writing as to either the outcome or the next course of action.   

II. If the grievance arises from an alleged act or omission on the part of the Town

Manager, the employee may submit a written complaint within five (5) work days to

the HR Liaison(s) of the Select Board to include:

• A concise explanation of the grievance and details of all previous efforts to

resolve the issue.

• Detailed information including evidence of the issue, related policies, etc.

• A copy of the Town Manager’s written response.

• Detailed information regarding the employee’s dissatisfaction with the Town

Manager’s response

The HR Liaison(s) will evaluate the grievance and conduct a period of discovery to 

review any and all related details pertaining to the grievance and provide a written 

response within ten (10) work days of receipt of the appeal as to either the outcome 

or the next course of action.  

C. Written Complaint to Select Board: In the event the employee is unsatisfied with the

dispute resolution of the HR Liaison(s) the employee may file a written request, within

fifteen (15) work days of receipt of appeal, to the Town Manager (or Designee) for a

hearing with the Select Board. The Town Manager (or Designee) will promptly inform

the Select Board. Upon receipt of the grievance, The Select Board will hold a hearing in

executive session (unless otherwise agreed to, in writing, by all involved parties to waive

their executive session rights) at their next regularly scheduled meeting that is no less

than fifteen (15) work days and no more than twenty (20) work days to review the

grievance and issue a decision. The decision of the Select Board shall be final. The

written request must include details of the grievance as outlined below:

• A clear and concise statement of the facts giving rise to the grievance,

including date, time and place of the alleged incident, if any, relating to the

grievance, and characterizing each particular act or omission.

• A copy of any documents relating to the grievance (if any).

• A statement setting forth the remedy sought.

D. Fair Hearing Board: Before any complaint, grievance or concern is brought before the

Fair Hearing Board, all other avenues, internal to Town Government, for addressing such

matters must have been exhausted. The Fair Hearing Board shall moderate any pre-

suspension or termination hearings of Town employees in accordance with Municipal

Charter Section 5.2.1 (c) and to determine if due process was or was not applied to the

grievances brought to the Fair Hearing Board, section 5.2.3.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 23 

The employee may submit a written appeal to the Town Manager (or Designee) who will 

promptly inform the Fair Hearing Board and shall act as liaison to the Fair Hearing Board 

to provide necessary documents pertaining to the grievance. The Fair Hearing Board will 

uphold confidentiality for all parties involved and conduct an unbiased review of the case 

in accordance with Municipal Charter section 5.2.3. The Fair Hearing Board will render a 

decision, within 15 work days of receipt of the written appeal, if due process was or was 

not applied in the disciplinary action process along with any necessary redial actions to 

be taken (section 5.2.3 (1)(2) Municipal Charter). 

SECTION 6:  

WORKPLACE GUIDELINES 

6.1 Employee Conduct and Public Relations 

In order for the Town, Officials, and Employees to maintain a positive relationship with the 

public they serve, we must abide by policies and procedures that will protect the public and 

fortify public trust and the trust we place in ourselves and our co-workers. All Town employees 

must avoid any conduct that might result in or create the impression of using public employment 

for private gain, giving preferential treatment to any person, or losing complete impartiality in 

conducting Town business. Employees must always act in the best interest of the Town.  

Town employees shall cooperate with the public and uphold standards of efficiency, 

professionalism, and economy in their work. All departments shall promote teamwork and 

collaborate efforts in response to public inquiries, ensuring our taxpayers are entitled to the best 

services we can provide them. Conduct that interferes with the Town’s operations, brings 

discredit on the Town, or is offensive to residents or fellow employees will not be tolerated.  

Cooperation, responsiveness, and courtesy are fundamental elements of good service. In efforts 

to provide meaningful services to Town residents, employees are expected to: 

• Give full and productive work to the best of their abilities and skills.

• Demonstrate a constructive, friendly, and positive attitude towards residents, co-workers,

visitors, or any other affiliates with the Town.

• Be prompt and timely in responses to public inquiries.

• Respect and follow the policies, guidelines, and procedures of the Town.

• Comply with all Federal, State, and local laws and regulations.

While it’s not possible to outline every potential violation, below is a non-exclusive list of types 

of conduct, which may give rise to discipline for any reason, even if not set forth in the following 

standards. Examples listed below are illustrative of prohibitive behavior and are not intended to 

be all-inclusive. Please direct questions about this section to the Town Manger (or designee). 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 24 

• Being at work while under influence of illegal drugs or alcohol.

• Possession, distribution, sale, transfer, or use of illegal drugs or alcohol in the workplace

while on duty or while operating Town owned vehicles and equipment.

• Operating equipment or performing duties in an unsafe manner.

• Fighting or provoking a fight on Town property.

• Theft of any Town property, materials, equipment, supplies, or other items under

ownership of or deemed an asset of the Town.

• Indecent or immoral personal conduct, including the use of profanity or abusive

language, displaying offensive pictures, screen savers, etc.

• Threatening, coercing, intimidating or interfering in any way with the work or safety of

other employees or residents

• Displaying or holding pornography either by printed or electronic media

• Falsification of timekeeping records

• Excessive absenteeism or any absence without notice

• Failure to give complete and accurate information on any forms of other Town

documents where data is required or requested of the employee

• Making false or malicious statements about the Town, or any of its employees or

residents

• Engaging in gambling or other illegal activities on Town property at any time

• Disclosing confidential information about Town employees or residents

• Criminal activity

• Insubordination

6.2: Professional Appearance 

Employees are representatives of the Town and expected to have professional conduct and 

project a positive image. Professional attire is expected of all employees consistent with the work 

location and nature of work. Employees are asked to use good judgement and present themselves 

at all times in a manner that best represents the Town. Departments may elect to establish 

different standards based on job roles, safety, or OSHA requirements.  

When determining whether or not attire is appropriate, employees should consider: 

• What types of job duties are required in the performance of their roles.

• General location where performance of job duties is carried out.

• With whom an employee is interacting with when transacting Town business.

• Personal safety consideration.

Additionally, employees are expected to come to work in clothing that is neat, clean, in good 

repair and is free from slogans or symbols that may be offensive to co-workers, the general 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 25 

public and others with whom they do business. Employees must also exercise discretion with 

regard to safety when specific job functions present different standards in the work environment. 

6.3: Attendance and Punctuality 

In order to provide effective services to Lyman citizens, it’s important for employees to be 

regular and punctual in attendance. Employees are expected to report to their designated work 

location based on their regular work schedule. In the event an employee cannot report to work as 

scheduled, the employee shall notify their immediate supervisor within thirty (30) minutes of the 

time that employee was scheduled to work.  

Tardiness, unexpected absences, or failure to report as required may result in disciplinary action. 

If an employee is absent for more than three (3) days due to illness or injury, they may be 

required to provide a medical statement from their doctor indicating the reason for the absence. 

Employees may also be required to produce a statement from their doctor assuring they are fit for 

duty to return from an absence. A physician’s statement or fitness for duty certificate may be 

required where absence is continuous for a period of several working days and after surgery or 

accident, regardless of the length of absence. Failing to report an absence properly or excessive 

absences or lateness, even when reported may be grounds for disciplinary action up to and 

including termination. 

6.4: Confidentiality 

During the course of their duties, employees of the Town are often privy to information about 

individuals, which is sensitive and will be kept confidential. Examples include, but are not 

limited to, labor relations, General Assistance, and personnel actions. Employees are expected to 

respect the confidential nature of such information. Violations may be grounds for disciplinary 

action up to and including termination.  

6.5: Outside Employment 

Town employees may engage in outside employment; however, no employee may engage in 

outside employment which in any manner interferes with the performance of the duties of their 

position, or results in a conflict of interest. Employees must inform their Department 

Head/Supervisor and Town Manager of their outside employment.  

6.6: Political Activities 

Except as otherwise provided by law, no person who is an employee of the Town shall be 

eligible to hold any elective office in the Town Government.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 26 

While in the employment of the Town, an employee shall not: 

• Engage in political activity while on duty;

• Use the influence of his or her employment capacity for or against any candidate for any

County, State, Federal, or Town elective office (i.e: Select Board, Budget Committee, or

School Board);

• Use Town facilities, equipment, materials, or supplies to communicate, organize, assist,

or advocate for or against any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective

office, or for or against a political cause, regardless of whether he or she is on or off duty.

For the purposes of this section, political activity means to advocate expressly for or against any 

candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office; to circulate nomination papers, 

petitions, or campaign literature for any County, State, Federal, or Town elective office; to 

advocate expressly for or against a political cause; and/or to knowingly give, solicit, accept, or 

receive a political contribution for any candidate for any County, State, Federal, or Town 

elective office or for a political cause.  

This provision is not to be construed to prevent Town employees from carrying out the duties 

and responsibilities of an employee’s position; from becoming, or continuing to be, members of 

any political organization; from attending political organization meetings from donating personal 

time, service, or resources to a political cause or candidate for any office; from expressing their 

views on political matters; or from voting with complete freedom in any election.  

6.7: Conflict of Interest 

Town employees are expected to treat everyone they serve with complete impartiality and are 

prohibited from using their official position for personal gain. Employees will not have any 

material financial interests in any private or professional activity that will be in conflict with 

their job responsibilities and will not represent private interests that are in conflict with the 

Town’s interest.  

Employees shall treat all citizens and others doing business with the Town with courtesy and 

respect and will not grant any citizens any favor, benefit, or special privileges beyond what is 

provided to all citizens. Employees will place public interests above individual, group and 

special interests.  

Employees shall keep confidential any information not available to citizens that becomes known 

to them by virtue of their position with the Town. Matters of personnel, including recruitment, 

selection, or promotion shall be handled on the basis of qualification, ability, and merit.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 27 

Employees must disclose to the Town Manager (or Designee) the nature and extent of any 

financial or personal interest in any Town contract, agreement, purchase of goods or services, or 

projects. The Town Manager (or Designee) will review such disclosures of conflicts of interest 

and determine appropriate practices to maintain partiality. 

6.8: Solicitation 

The Town of Lyman prohibits solicitation, distribution, and posting of materials on or at Town 

property by Town employees, except as may be permitted by this policy. The sole exception to 

this policy is charitable and community activities sponsored by the Town and Town-sponsored 

programs related to the Town’s services.  

Employees may not solicit other employees during work times, except in connection with Town 

approved or Town-sponsored events. Employees may not distribute literature of any kind during 

work times, or in any work areas, except in announcements in connection with Town-sponsored 

events. The posting of materials or electronic announcements are permitted with approval from 

the Town Manager (or Designee).  

6.9: Town Equipment and Materials 

All Town-owned equipment, vehicles, tools, materials and supplies are the property of the Town 

of Lyman. The following shall govern the personal use by employees of Town-owned equipment 

(including computers, laptops, and cell phones) or supplies.  

I. Town equipment (including computers, laptops, and cell phones) or supplies will not be

used by an employee in the conduct of private business activities, for compensation, or

profit.

II. Town equipment that is issued to an employee for purposes related to their job functions

(i.e. laptop, cell phone, devices designated for out of office use) will not be used for an

employee’s personal use or the personal use of another.

III. Town equipment, that is otherwise not issued for out of office use, will not be removed

from Town premises for an employee’s personal use or the personal use of another.

IV. Employees are expected to follow the Town’s Acceptable Use Policy.

V. The Town’s letterhead will not be used for personal correspondence or in personal

business correspondence.

VI. With approval of the Town Manager (or designee), an employee may use Town

equipment such as computers, photocopy machines, or faxes occasionally for personal

tasks, so long as these tasks are performed on the employees own time and cost of

supplies will be reimbursed to the Town for any supplies consumed in their personal use

of Town equipment. Employees are responsible for any damage to Town equipment

occurring during personal use thereof.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 28 

Additionally, employees may have access to heavy equipment, such as vehicles, loaders, tractors, 

or other types of machinery to perform essential functions of their job. Employees are expected 

to adhere to all workplace safety policies and procedures. Supervisors/Department Heads may 

employ stricter practices and determine who may operate Town-owned heavy equipment within 

their department. 

Smoking and smokeless tabaco are not permitted in any Town-owned vehicles or heavy 

equipment.  

All employees must use seat belts while in Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment, either as 

an operator or a passenger. This policy also applies when an employee is using his or her own 

personal vehicle for Town business.  

Any employee that is operating Town-owned vehicles or heavy equipment will not use any 

cellular device or any other type of electronic device that impairs or distracts the employee from 

the safe operation of vehicle equipment.  

Employees in violation of any section of this policy may receive disciplinary action up to and 

including termination.  

6.10: Cell Phone Use 

The Town allows employees to bring personal cell phones to work, however, use of personal cell 

phones is expected to be kept at a minimum for calls and text messages. Urgent calls to/from 

family members or for emergency matters can be made/received and should be kept brief. While 

occasional phone calls are acceptable, frequent or lengthy personal calls and texts can be 

disruptive and non-productive and not in the best interest of the Town. For this reason, it is 

expected that employees make or receive personal phone calls and text messages during non-

work time as much as practicable.  

When sending text messages for Town business-related matters, employees are expected to use 

discretion and good judgement. As with email and other documents related to Town business, 

text messages made on Town-owned and personal cellular phones are subject to Maine’s 

Freedom of Access Act (FOAA). Sending text messages of a confidential or inappropriate nature 

should be avoided.  

Employees who willfully violate this policy are subject to progressive disciplinary action for 

disruptive, excessive use, or continuous non-compliance, to include having cellular phone 

privileges revoked during work hours.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 29 

6.11: Workplace Safety 

The Town of Lyman strives to provide a safe work environment for all employees and the 

general public conducting business in Town facilities. All employees have a responsibility in 

keeping the workplace safe, healthy, and productive, and to provide safe and efficient services to 

the public. Supervisors/Department Heads are responsible for ensuring worksites and office areas 

are free from recognized job hazards and performance of job duties is done in a safe manner.  

The Town’s goal is to minimize hazards such as human injury, property loss, or fire. All 

employees must report all accidents or injuries immediately to their supervisor and/or Town 

Manager (or Designee). Employees shall exercise caution when operating machinery. Horseplay, 

practical jokes, or shortcuts that jeopardize the safety of others will not be tolerated and will 

result in disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

Employees should report unsafe working conditions to their Supervisor/Department Head and 

Town Manager (or Designee).  

Despite employees’ best efforts in maintaining a safe work environment, workplace injuries may 

occur. In the event of a workplace injury, employees are required to follow procedures as 

outlined in section 8.6 of this Personnel Policy Handbook. 

6.12: Social Media Policy 

All employees are expected to follow the Social Media Policy which has been established as a 

separate policy titled “Communications and Social Media Policy” as well as relevant social 

media sections of the “Acceptable Use Policy” 

6.13: Technology – Acceptable Use Policy 

Technology resources, computer information systems, and networks are an integral part of the 

business of the Town. The Town provides technology resources to employees to support them in 

accomplishing their work-related tasks. Employees are expected to review the Town’s 

Acceptable Use Policy upon employment and annually.  

6:14: Purchasing Procedures, See Policy 

All employees are expected to follow policy and procedures as outlined in the “Town of Lyman 

Purchasing Procedures” which has been established as a separate policy.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 30 

6.14: Inclement Weather and Emergency Closings 

Certain emergencies may require closure of municipal facilities in order to provide appropriate 

emergency response and/or maintain the safety of employees and the public. Those emergencies 

may include, but are not limited to, major medical crisis, public health or safety threats, fires, 

serious workplace injuries, vehicular and pedestrian accidents. The Town Manager (or Designee) 

shall have discretion to close the municipal facility for such emergencies. Employees will be 

paid for the remainder of their scheduled shift from the time of the official closing. In the event 

the emergency occurs before the Town office opens, employees will be notified of the closure as 

soon as is reasonable. While the Town will always make every effort to keep municipal facilities 

open to continue public services, if an employee feels their safety is at risk by remaining at work, 

the employee may use available accrued time off to remain at/return home.  

During periods of inclement weather, the Town Manager (or Designee) may decide to close the 

Town Office. Employees will be paid for the remainder of their scheduled shift from the time of 

the official closing. In the event the Town office remains open during inclement weather an 

employee may use available accrued paid time off if they are unable to arrive at work.  

6.15: Drug and Alcohol Policy 

The Town of Lyman strongly believes in a safe environment free from substance misuse for all 

employees and members of the public conducting business with the Town. Employees are 

expected to report for work and perform their duties in a manner that does not jeopardize the 

health, safety, and well-being of co-workers and the public.  

No employee of the Town shall possess, dispense, distribute, store, use, or be under the influence 

of any alcoholic beverage, malt beverage, fortified wine, intoxicating liquor, illegal drugs, 

intoxicants, controlled substances, or other useable substances during working hours, including 

rest breaks and meal breaks.  

Employees shall not smoke, ingest, possess, distribute, or be under the influence of 

tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) or psychoactive cannabis products in the workplace, or at any time 

during which the employee is working, expected to work, and/or is on duty. The prohibitions of 

this paragraph apply to all cannabis usage, medicinal and recreational, whether or not lawful 

under Maine law.  

As provided in the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988, employees are required to notify the 

Town Manager (or Designee) of a criminal or civil conviction for drug violation occurring in the 

workplace no later than five (5) calendar days after such conviction. The Town Manager (or 

Designee) will: 
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 31 

• Take appropriate personnel action against such employee up to and including

termination; and/or

• Require the employee to satisfactorily participate in a substance use disorder treatment or

rehabilitation program.

6.16: Smoking 

Smoking of tobacco products is prohibited in any buildings/facilities owned by the Town. 

Employees are allowed to use tobacco products during their break times but must be outside of a 

building, away from any public entrances or within a designated smoking area and should not 

interfere with any person conducting business with the Town. No litter associated with tobacco 

may be discarded on or in Town property. 

SECTION 7:  

PAYROLL AND WORK SCHEDULES 

7.1: Payroll 

Payroll payments are made on a bi-weekly basis, outlined in 4.10 of this personnel handbook, to 

every employee for salary or wages earned. Pay days are on every other Wednesday, with direct 

deposit commencing on said day. 

Direct Deposit: The Town requires employees to use direct deposit for payroll to the financial 

institute of their choice. The Town does not make payroll advances to its employees, nor does 

the Town make loans to employees. 

Overcompensation - Pursuant to State Statute Title 26 §635: In the event of overcompensation, 

the Town will not withhold more than 5% of the net amount during subsequent pay periods 

without the employee’s written permission, except under the circumstance of the employee 

voluntarily terminating employment, the Town will deduct the full amount of overcompensation 

from any wages due.  The town may not exceed the amount of overcompensation paid to the 

employee in the three years preceding the date of discovery of overcompensation. The Town 

may deduct more than 5% of net pay if: 

• The employee agrees in writing;

• The employee voluntarily quits, or

• The employee “knowingly accepts” the overcompensation
DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 32 

For the purpose of this section, net amount, means the amount of money due an employee as 

compensation after any deductions or withholdings other than the Town’s withholdings for the 

purpose of recovering any overcompensation.  

Tax Withholding Forms: The Town follows IRS guidelines and rules for tax withholding forms 

(Federal W-4 and Maine Withholding). Employees may amend their tax withholding forms and 

it will be the employee’s responsibility to determine and elect the appropriate tax withholding 

from wages. Tax withholding forms are available from the Treasurer.  

7.2: Time Cards and Time Clock. 

The Town is required to keep records of hours worked by its non-exempt employees. Non-

exempt employees will record their work hours by using a time clock system. In the event the 

time clock system is not in function, non-exempt employees will record their work hours in 

writing and report the record to the Treasurer (or Designee) for processing payroll.  

7.3: Discretionary Time Off for Exempt Employees 

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) Exempt employees are required to work outside the normal 

schedule of working or office hours and are compensated on the basis of accomplishing the tasks 

demanded of the position without regard for specific number of hours worked. Exempt 

employees are not eligible for overtime pay or compensatory time.  

Exempt employees may take occasional discretionary time off without applying paid time off 

accruals for such time off taken when: 

A. It does not interfere with department operations, or the operations of other departments.

B. With prior approval by the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or

Designee)

7.4: Temporary Telecommuting (Remote) Policy 

Employees may on occasion need to conduct their work by Telecommuting/ Remote work 

methods, such as when an employee works any hours from a location other than Town facilities. 

Telework arrangements can provide a mutually beneficial option for both the Twon and its 

employees. Employees are expected to be responsible in their conduct of remote work and 

ensure that work goals can be met. 

The Town Manager (or Designee) will determine which positions are most suitable for 

temporary remote work options and shall make their determination based on the Town’s needs 

and the positions’ responsibilities. Not all jobs can be performed from off-site locations. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 33 

Positions requiring face-to-face interaction with customers and office personnel may not be 

suitable for telecommuting.  

At the discretion of the Town Manager (or Designee) the eligibility of telecommuting/ remote 

work options of an employee may be revoked. Notice of revocation shall be given as far in 

advance as possible but is not required. Reasons for revocation may include, but is not limited to, 

failure to follow applicable policies and procedures, changes in job responsibilities, limited or 

significantly decreased necessity, and any other reason as determined by the Town Manager (or 

Designee).  

Employees must be able to carry out the same duties, assignments, and other work obligations 

when working remotely as they would when working on Town premises. Candidates for 

temporary telecommuting arrangements must demonstrate good time-management and 

organizational skills, be self-motivated and self-reliant. Employees are expected to demonstrate 

professional conduct when engaging in remote meetings, webinars, trainings, etc.  

As a general rule, the Town will not be responsible for costs associated with the setup of an 

employee’s remote workspace, such as remodeling, furniture, or lighting, nor for repairs or 

modifications to the remote workspace. However, if the employee is in need of a reasonable 

accommodation in accordance with the American’s with Disabilities Act (ADA), an employee 

shall follow the process as outlined in section 2.4 of this Personnel Policy Handbook.  

Town Records: During remote work, employees shall be required to maintain all work product 

and records in a manner consistent with the Town’s standard record keeping practices and in full 

compliance with the Maine Freedom of Access Act and Records Retention Rules established by 

the Maine State Archivist. Employees shall not delete or destroy any records that are otherwise 

required to be maintained by the Town per these laws and rules. It shall be the responsibility of 

the employee to ensure he or she can satisfy these record keeping requirements while working 

remotely.  

Emergency Telecommuting/ Remote work: In the event of an emergency such as inclement 

weather, emergency closures or pandemic, the Town Manager (or Designee) may allow or 

require employees eligible for remote work to temporary work from home to ensure continuity in 

business and productivity. Employees are required to follow any and all guidelines provided by 

related policies and procedures.  

Determining equipment needs for each employee will be on a case-by-case basis.  Any employee 

with accessibility to perform remote work is expected to follow and adhere to the Town’s 

Acceptable Use Policy. Employees are expected to use any assigned Town-owned equipment for 

Town business purposes only. Employees must keep equipment safe and avoid any misuse. 

Additionally, other sections including 6.9 of this Personnel Policy Handbook shall apply. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 34 

Violations of this policy or any other related policies and procedures shall be grounds for 

disciplinary action up to and including termination.  

7.5: Pay at Separation 

(Note: Decide if we will pay out 100%, or set parameters, or pay none at all. See section 8.9 for 

PTO accruals, also added was a cap on the roll over amount for PTO which may help keep the 

accruals down for determining how much to pay out.) Outline below is with parameters set for 

pay out just as a middle ground sample between 0, Some, and 100%: 

Upon retirement or separation in good standing from the Town, an employee will receive a 

percentage of their accumulated Paid Time Off accruals (PTO) or Earned Paid Leave accruals 

(EPL), whichever applies, as separation pay in their final paycheck. “Good standing” shall mean 

fourteen (14) days notice to the Town in advance of the employees last actual day worked, in the 

case of proper resignation (section 4.12 of this Personnel Policy Handbook), valid retirement, or 

separation of the employee from the Town service for other than cause. The percentage amount 

is determined by the following: 

A. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, an employee who has completed one full

year of employment, whether full-time or part-time, and up to ten (10) consecutive years

from the date of hire, shall receive 35% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals in

their final paycheck.

B. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, after ten (10) years of continuous full-

time or part-time employment, the employee shall receive 50% of their accumulated PTO

or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.

C. Upon retirement or separation in good standing, after twenty (20) years of continuous

full-time or part-time employment, the employee shall receive 70% of their accumulated

PTO or EPL accruals in their final paycheck.

D. If an employee dies, 100% of their accumulated PTO or EPL accruals will be paid to the

estate of the decedent unless otherwise directed by a probate court.

(note: In other policies the above applies to accrued Sick Time and Vacation time is paid out 

100% regardless of term of employment. Lyman does not separate vacation and combines all 

types of time off as PTO) DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 35 

SECTION 8: 

BENEFITS 

8.1: Health and Life Insurance 

Health Insurance Benefits: The Town will provide a Maine Municipal Association (MMA) group 

insurance plan, which provides Maine Municipal Employees’ Health Trust medical coverage. 

The Town’s MMA Employees’ Health Trust coverage and level of service shall be established 

by the Select Board during the budgeting process. Currently the Town offers a POS C with a 

100% employer share for a Single Plan and will pay 70% of the difference of a single plan and 

that of a family two-person, or employee and child(ren) plan.  

Regular Full-Time employees and their families are eligible to participate. An employee must 

apply for coverage during open enrollment. The Town does not automatically enroll employees 

under any coverage plans. Employees are responsible for applying for any changes in coverage 

during the open enrollment period. Coverage will begin the first month following the employees’ 

hire date.  

Insurance Opt-Out: Any Regular Full-Time employee who does not elect to receive health 

insurance benefits and can demonstrate they have eligible insurance coverage, shall be eligible to 

receive 50% of the equivalence to a single plan, biweekly through payroll.  

Life Insurance Benefits: All Regular Full-Time employees of the Town are eligible for basic life 

insurance equal to one year of their annual salary as provided by State Statute and established by 

the Select Board. Upon the first month after the employee’s hire date, coverage shall be 

automatically applied. If an employee does not participate in the Town’s health insurance 

coverage, they will also receive the Town’s life insurance benefits unless the employee refuses 

life insurance coverage in writing.  

Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage: Above what the Town will cover for basic life insurance 

Regular Full-Time employees of the Town are eligible to opt in to supplemental Life Insurance 

coverage at the cost to the employee. Available Supplemental Life Insurance Coverage is as 

outlined below: 

• Life Insurance equal to two (2) years of an employee’s annual salary where the Town

will cover the cost of one year and the employee will cover the cost of the additional

second year.

• Life Insurance equal to three (3) years of an employee’s annual salary where the Town

will cover the cost of one year and the employee will cover the cost of the additional two

years. The insurance company may request access to an employees’ medical information

for this option.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 36 

• Dependent Life Insurance is offered to all employees at 100% cost to the employee.

For any employee that is not eligible to receive the above benefits, they shall have the option to 

opt into any benefit provided by the Town at 100% cost to the employee.  

8.2: Dental and Vision Insurance 

The Town will provide 100% employer share of a single plan for dental insurance for Regular 

Full-Time employees. Any employee that is not eligible for the single plan for dental, the 

employee may opt in for this benefit at 100% cost to the employee. For additional supplemental 

or family dental plans, any employee may elect to opt in at 100% cost to the employee.  

Vision insurance is provided to any employee at 100% cost to the employee. 

8.3: Income Protection Plan (IPP) 

The Town offers Income Protection Plans to Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time 

employees to help cover the employee in the event of serious injury or illness where the 

employee must take an extended leave. Eligible employees can elect to opt in to one of three plan 

options;  

• Income protection up to 40% of the employees weekly salary

• Income protection up to 55% of the employees weekly salary

• Income protection up to 70% of the employees weekly salary

8.4: Retirement 

All Regular Full-Time employees may elect to participate in Town sponsored retirement 

programs. The Town will only provide employer contributions to a single plan for each eligible 

employee. The Town currently offers eligible employees the option of a Maine Public employees 

Retirement System (MainePERS) plan or a Mission Square 457 (b) Retirement plan. All Regular 

Part-Time employees may participate in the 457 (b) Retirement plan and the Town will provide 

contributions as list out under section B, below: 

A. MainePERS: New employees must elect whether to participate in the MainePERS within

two (2) weeks of their date of hire. Under federal law, an employee elected in

MainePERS will not be able to leave the MainePERS plan for the duration of their

employment with the Town. If an employe declines to join MainePERS, they will not be

able to later elect to join MainePERS. The MainePERS plan is a Defined Benefit (DB)

pension plan. Employees contribute a percentage of earnings to MainePERS. The Town

will also contribute a set amount to MainePERS on behalf of employees. Participants in

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 37 

MainePERS and enrollees may also contribute to the Towns Mission Square 457 (b) 

plan, however the Town will only match contributions to MainePERS if an employee 

contributes to both MainePERS and Mission Square 457 (b) 

B. Mission Square 457 (b): Eligible employees may elect to participate in the Town’s 457

(b) Retirement Plan at hire or any time during employment. If the employee selects this

as their primary retirement plan, the Town will match employee contributions up to 6%.

Employees may contribute additional amounts so long as it’s in compliance with federal

regulations, however the Town will not match anything above 6%.

Social Security: The Town provides Social Security and Medicare coverage in compliance with 

federal law to all employees.   

8.5: Open Enrollment 

The open enrollment period will be once a year during a period established by the Maine 

Municipal Employee Health Trust. During the open enrollment period, employees are able to: 

• Enroll in health, dental, and vision plans

• Add or remove dependents from health, dental, and vision plans

• Drop coverage in health, dental, and vision plans

• Employees who elect to drop coverage in the Town’s health plan may be asked to

provide verification of coverage from a parent, spouse, or domestic partner’s insurance

plan.

For questions about Open Enrollment dates and how to make changes, please contact the 

Department of Finance.  

8.6: Workers’ Compensation 

The Town participates in a federally mandated Worker’s Compensation program. The following 

actions are required by employees: 

I. All injuries to personnel, no matter how minor, during the work schedule will be reported

immediately to the Town Manager (or Designee), but in no event later than sixty (60)

days after the date of injury. Maine law requires the Town to file a First Report of Injury

with Workers’ Compensation within seven (7) days of receiving notice of the injury.

II. An employee suffering from an on-the-job injury will be sent to a medical facility,

specified by the Town, for examination at the Town’s expense.

III. The employee will receive their normal pay for that day, and if eligible may be entitled to

use Paid Time Off (PTO) for any regularly scheduled time missed between the incident

and the date that workers’ compensation benefits may begin.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 38 

8.7: Unemployment 

Federal and State law govern unemployment benefits. The Town provides such benefits as 

mandated under these laws.  

8.8: Holidays 

The Town of Lyman recognizes all holidays as currently recognized by the State of Maine. 

New Year’s Day Labor Day 

Martin Luther King Jr. Day Indigenous Peoples’ Day 

Presidents’ Day Veteran’s Day 

Patriot’s Day  Thanksgiving Day 

Memorial Day  Day after Thanksgiving 

Juneteenth Day Christmas Day 

Independence Day 

If a regular holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday is considered a holiday; If on 

Saturday, the proceeding Friday is considered a holiday. For Christmas Day and/or New Year’s 

Day; if said holiday falls on a Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday, the work day prior will 

be a half day.  

Paid holidays will be granted to all Regular Full-Time employees. Regular Part-Time employees 

whose normal work schedule falls on the holiday, will receive holiday pay equal to the hours the 

employee would normally work that day.  

An employee on approved unpaid leave, such as unpaid extended sick leave or leave of absence, 

shall not be entitled to holiday pay.  

8.9: Paid Time Off (PTO) 

Regular Full-Time employees are eligible to earn Paid Time Off (PTO) accruals to cover any 

sick leave, personal days, or vacation time. The Town encourages employees to use their PTO 

accruals and take time off to enhance a positive work/life balance. Employees may use their PTO 

accruals at any time after their date of hire pending approval from a Supervisor/ Department 

Head or Town Manager (or Designee).  

Time Off Request Using PTO: 

Requests for use of PTO accruals shall be submitted to the Supervisor/ Department Head or 

Town Manager (or Designee) in a timely manner. The Supervisor/Department Head shall 

approve time off requests for employees working within their department. The Town Manager 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 39 

(or Designee) shall approve time off requests for Supervisors/Department Heads. If the request is 

denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial.  

Time Off Requests Without PTO: 

Requests for time off shall be submitted as stated above. However, when the balance of PTO is 

insufficient to cover the requested length of time off, the authorizing Supervisor/Department 

Head shall have discretion to approve or deny the request. If the request is approved, the 

employee may use any remaining balance to cover any portion of the requested time off and in 

excess of the available PTO the remainder of requested time off shall be unpaid. If the request is 

denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial. In extenuating 

circumstances, such as bodily injuries unrelated to worker’s comp, prevention of communicable 

illness among others in the workplace environment, and any other such circumstances, the Town 

Manager (or Designee) may approve or deny the use of future, unaccrued PTO hours for the 

employee on a short-term basis. 

All Approved PTO requests will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to 

the Finance Department for payroll purposes. 

If a holiday falls within the employee’s time off period, the employee shall not have that day 

charged against their accumulated PTO. “Holiday” shall be defined by section 8.8 of this 

Personnel Policy Handbook.  

All Regular Full-Time employees eligible for PTO accruals will be able to roll over any unused 

PTO accruals or up to a maximum of 35% of their annual accruals, whichever is lesser. Rollover 

of PTO will be effective each year on July 1 and will be automatic. 

Any eligible PTO payout will be as follows under section 7.5. 

Exempt Employees: Accruals will be calculated bi-weekly at a prorated amount based on the 

Specific Eligibility Table under this section of the Personnel Policy Handbook.  

Non-Exempt Employees: Accruals are prorated based on the number of their regular scheduled 

hours worked and will not exceed a regular schedule of forty (40) hours per week.  

Specific Eligibility of PTO: This table is based on 37.5 hours worked per week. Years of service 

shall be continuous for employee eligibility.  

Years of continuous service Paid Time Off  (PTO) hours 

0 through 2 years 105 

3 through 5 years 145 

6 through 15 years 183 

Over 15 years 245 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 40 

8.10: Employee Recognition Program 

More Discussion with Select Board 

SECTION 9:  

EMPLOYEE LEAVE 

9.1: Personal Days 

Any Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-Time employee will receive time allocation equal to two 

(2) regular scheduled work days. Personal time does not accrue year to year and is not subject to

pay out at separation.

Whenever possible, personal time must be requested and approved by the Supervisor/ 

Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee). Personal time will be applied for the regular 

scheduled hours of the day(s) being requested. The Town also recognizes employees’ ability to 

use time consistent with Maine’s Earned Paid Leave Law.  

9.2: Earned Paid Leave 

The Town of Lyman provides Earned Paid Leave (EPL) pursuant to State law Title 26 M.R.S.A 

sec. 1043(11).  

All employees under section 4.3 of this Personnel Policy Handbook are eligible for EPL 

accruals. The Town provides a benefit greater than EPL to Regular Full-Time employees through 

its Paid Time Off (PTO) policies under section 8.9. To comply with Maine’s Earned Paid Leave 

Law, eligible employees may utilize up to 40 hours of accrued benefit time during the calendar 

year for any type of time off as needed.  

Accrual of Earned Paid Leave: All eligible employees, other than Regular Full-Time employees, 

are entitled to earn one hour of paid leave for every 40 hours worked, up to a maximum of 40 

hours in one year of employment. Accruals begin at the start of employment. Any unused EPL 

will roll over into the next fiscal year of employment. However, the maximum amount of EPL 

available to the employee will not exceed 40 hours in one year. Rollover of EPL will be effective 

each year on July 1 and will be automatic. DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 41 

Time Off Requests Using EPL: 

Requests for use of EPL accruals shall be submitted to the Supervisor/ Department Head or 

Town Manager (or Designee) in a timely manner. If the request is denied, the authorizer shall 

provide in writing the reason for denial.  

Time Off Requests Without EPL: 

Requests for time off shall be submitted as stated above. However, when the balance of EPL is 

insufficient to cover the requested length of time off, the authorizing Supervisor/Department 

Head shall have discretion to approve or deny the request. If the request is approved, the 

employee may use any remaining balance to cover any portion of the requested time off and in 

excess of the available EPL the remainder of requested time off shall be unpaid. If the request is 

denied, the authorizer shall provide in writing the reason for denial. In extenuating 

circumstances, such as bodily injuries unrelated to worker’s comp, prevention of communicable 

illness among others in the workplace environment, and any other such circumstances, the Town 

Manager (or Designee) may approve or deny the use of future, unaccrued EPL hours for the 

employee on a short-term basis. 

All approved EPL requests will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to 

the Finance Department for payroll purposes.  

Any eligible EPL payout will be as follows under section 7.5. 

9.3: Extended Sick Leave 

A Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employee may be granted extended sick leave for 

his or her own serious medical condition by the Town Manager (or Designee). Requests for 

extended sick leave will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis an will be considered under the 

following provisions: 

A. The employee provides the Town Manager (or Designee), no later than three (3) weeks

prior to the conclusion of the employee’s 12 weeks of Family Medical Leave, satisfactory

medical certification from their personal physician that an extension is necessary,

including duration of extension.

B. Employees who have been notified that they do not qualify for leave under the Maine

FMLA or FLMA and have requested extended sick leave will also be asked to provide

medical certification from a health care provider that provides an estimate of the duration

of incapacity.

C. The employee will be required to utilize all available benefit leaves, including Paid Time

Off, Earned Paid Leave, and Personal Days during all periods of extended sick leave.

D. The employee will not accrue benefit time during any portion of unpaid sick extended

sick leave, nor will the employee be eligible for holiday pay during extended sick leave.

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 42 

9.4: Leave for Victims of Domestic Violence 

The Town will grant reasonable and necessary paid or unpaid leave from work for eligible 

Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees who are victims of domestic violence, 

stalking, or sexual assault as provided in State law Title 26 M.R.S.A sec. (Employment Leave for 

Victims of Violence).  

The employee will be granted leave to prepare for and attend court proceedings, receive medical 

treatment, or attend to medical treatment for a victim who is the employee’s daughter, son, 

parent, or spouse, or obtain necessary services to remedy a crisis caused by domestic violence, 

sexual assault, or stalking.  

The leave must be needed because the employee or the employee’s child, parent, or spouse is a 

victim of violence, assault, or sexual assault under Title 17-A, Chapter 11, or stalking or any 

other act that would support an order for protection under Title 19-A, chapter 101. As soon an 

employee becomes aware of the need of a leave of absence, they must make a written request for 

leave to the Town Manger (or Designee). The request must specify the length of leave and 

determine how much Paid Time Off (PTO) is being requested. Employees who have no such 

leave banked and accrued shall receive unpaid leave.  

9.5: Military Leave 

The Town complies with all State and Federal law, governing the rights of employees who are 

entitled to leave and other rights and obligations applying to their military service. All employees 

in the military service will be granted time off from work for annual training obligations or 

active service in the Military (as defined below). Employees engaged in active military service 

will be placed on military leave of absence status. Employees receiving orders for military 

training or service should notify their Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or 

Designee) of the dates of their military service as far in advance as possible unless military 

necessity prevents such notice.  

Military leave and rights to re-employment after such leave are available to employees under the 

terms and conditions of applicable Federal and State la, as may be amended from time to time.  

Military Leave Without Loss of Pay: 

Employees (including employees who hold acting capacity and project appointments) are 

allowed up to seventeen (17) workdays in each calendar year without loss of pay or benefits 

when engaged in any form of military duty. The employee must furnish the 

Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) with an official statement signed 

by authority giving the employee’s rank, pay, and allowance during the employee’s seventeen 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 43 

(17) day period. The employer will pay the difference, if any, between the employee’s regular

pay and military leave pay up to seventeen (17) days per year.

Military Leave Without Pay: 

When military service exceeds the 17 workdays authorized for military leave with pay, the 

employee must be placed on unpaid military leave. Employees may use, but are not required to 

use, accrued Paid Time Off (PTO), Earned Paid Leave (EPL), Personal Days, etc. when entering 

unpaid military service. Provisions for the optional use of Paid Time Off, Earned Paid Leave, 

Personal Days, etc. also to apply to employees who are called to active State duty by the 

Governor. Employees should determine which paid leave they wish to use and a fixed amount to 

use each pay period with Town Manager (or Designee) who will submit to the Department of 

Finance for payroll purposes prior to going out on leave.  

Maintenance of Benefits: 

An employee shall be entitled to maintain health insurance coverage on the same basis as if they 

had continued to work for the Town. To maintain uninterrupted coverage, the employee will be 

required to continue paying their share of insurance premium payments. If an employee is 

receiving concurrent PTO or EPL time, the premium will be deducted from the paycheck, as is 

normally the practice. The Town will bill for benefit premiums in the case that the employee is 

unpaid. Employees may opt for automatic ACH withdrawal to cover benefits costs. The payment 

shall be made by the 15th of each month. If the employee’s payment is more than sixty (60) days 

overdue, the Town will no longer maintain the coverage.  

Re-Employment: 

The guiding principle of the USERRA and Maine law is that an employee performing military 

service is not to suffer any detriment in employment and should be treated as if he or she had not 

left employment. State employees who enter military service retain reemployment rights under 

both the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 and Maine law. 

Exceptions are narrowly restricted to persons who hold temporary, non-recurrent employment. 

Although certain criteria are required for an employee to exercise his or her reemployment 

rights, denial of reemployment to a returning service member should be considered an 

extraordinary situation. Human resource professionals should be consulted if any adverse action 

is contemplated. 

An employee who enters military service on a short-term basis would generally be returned to 

the position that he or she left. Employees who enter military service on a long-term basis would 

be returned to the position that he or she left or be returned to a position of like status and pay for 

which he or she is qualified. Agency human resource representatives should be consulted if 

denial of reemployment for any reason is contemplated. 

Upon the completion of service (less than 31 days, including weekend drills) employees are also 

entitled to reasonable time for return travel, and an eight-hour period of rest, before returning to 

work. The allotted time to apply for reemployment increases incrementally, depending upon the 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 44 

length of service. Departmental human resource representatives should be consulted in unusual 

situations. 

9.6: Family Medical Leave 

The Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA) entitles eligible employees of covered employers to 

take unpaid, job-protected leave for specified family and medical reasons. FLMA will run 

concurrently with all other leave and leave benefits, including but not limited to, Workers’ 

Compensation, Maine FMLA and will run even while the employee is using their own accrued 

leave (such as Paid Time Off and Earned Paid Leave). 

Eligible Employees: 

Only eligible employees are entitled to take FMLA leave. An eligible employee is one who: 

• Works for a covered employer (The Town of Lyman)

• Has worked for the employer for at least 12 months.

• Has at least 1,250 hours of service for the employer during the 12-month period

immediately preceding the leave; and

The 12 months of employment do not have to be consecutive. That means any time previously 

worked for the same employer (including seasonal work) could, in most cases, be used to meet 

the 12-month requirement. If the employee has a break in service that lasted seven years or more, 

the time worked prior to the break will not count unless the break is due to service covered by 

the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), or there is a 

written agreement, outlining the employer’s intention to rehire the employee after the break in 

service.  

Leave Entitlement: 

An eligible employee shall be entitled to twelve (12) workweeks of unpaid leave during a twelve 

(12) month period for one or more of the following reasons:

• the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care.

• to care for a spouse, child, or parent who has a serious health condition.

• for a serious health condition* that causes the employee to be unable to perform the

essential functions of their job; or

• For any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that a spouse, child, or parent is a

military member on covered active duty or call to covered active-duty status.

• a serious health condition, which shall be defined as an illness of a serious and long-term

nature resulting in recurring or lengthy absences. Treatment of such an illness would

occur in an inpatient situation at a hospital, hospice, or residential medical care facility,

or would consist of continuing care provided by a licensed health care provider.

A serious health condition means an accident, injury, impairment, or physical or mental 

condition that involves either inpatient care or continuing treatment by a health care provider. 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 45 

When both spouses are employed by the Town, they are each entitled to twelve (12) work weeks 

of family leave for the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care, and to care for a 

parent who has a serious health condition.  

An eligible employee may also take up to 26 workweeks of leave during a “single 12-month 

period" to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness, when the employee 

is the spouse, child, parent, or next of kin of the servicemember. The "single 12-month period" 

for military caregiver leave is different from the 12-month period used for other FMLA leave 

reasons.  

Under some circumstances, employees may take FMLA leave on an intermittent or reduced 

schedule basis. That means an employee may take leave in separate blocks of time or by 

reducing the time he or she works each day or week for a single qualifying reason. When leave is 

needed for planned medical treatment, the employee must make a reasonable effort to schedule 

treatment so as not to unduly disrupt the employer's operations. If FMLA leave is for the birth, 

adoption, or foster placement of a child, use of intermittent or reduced schedule leave requires 

the employer’s approval.  

The Town requires employees to "substitute" (run concurrently) accrued Paid Time Off (PTO) or 

Earned Paid Leave (EPL) to cover all the FMLA leave period. However, employees may 

maintain up to forty (40) hours of PTO time for future time off.  

Notice: 

Employees must provide notice as far in advance as possible or as soon as possible and 

practicable under the circumstances.  

If the Town acquires knowledge that a leave may be for a FMLA-qualifying reason, the Town 

will provide the employee with notice concerning their eligibility for FMLA leave and their 

rights and responsibilities under the FMLA. The Town will also notify employees whether leave 

is designated as FMLA leave and the amount of leave that will be deducted from the employees’ 

FMLA entitlement.  

Certification: 

In the event an employee is requesting a leave, or the employer has acquired information the 

employee is going to be on leave due to their own serious health condition or a covered family 

member’s serious health condition, the Town may require certification in support of the leave 

from a health care provider.  

FMLA is generally unpaid, however, an employee may substitute any paid leave available to the 

employee under the Town’s policy (such as PTO or EPL). Employees should determine which 

paid leave they wish to use and a fixed amount to use each pay period with the Department of 

Finance for payroll purposes prior to going on leave.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 46 

Maintenance of Benefits: 

An employee shall be entitled to maintain group health insurance coverage on the same basis as 

if they had continued to work at the Town. To maintain uninterrupted coverage, the employee 

will be required to continue paying their share of insurance premium payments. If an employee is 

receiving concurrent PTO or EPL time, the premium will be deducted from the paycheck, as is 

normally the practice. The Town will bill for benefits premiums in the case that the employee is 

unpaid. Employees may opt for an automatic ACH withdrawal to cover benefits costs. The 

payment shall be made by the 15th of each month. If the employee's payment is more than sixty 

(60) days overdue, the Town will no longer maintain the coverage.

If the employee informs the Town that they does not intend to return to work at the end of the 

leave period, the Town’s obligation to provide health benefits ends.  

Vacation, sick, and holidays will not accrue beyond the twelve (12) week leave period, 

consistent with the Town’s leave policies, unless the employee is utilizing available accrued 

vacation, sick, or personal time. However, the use of family or medical leave will not be 

considered a break in service when vesting or eligibility to participate in benefit programs is 

being determined. Seniority of position is not affected.  

Job Restoration: 

Upon return from FMLA leave, an employee shall be restored to their original job or to an 

equivalent job with equivalent pay, benefits, and other terms and conditions of employment. 

Employees accepting employment elsewhere while on FML may be disciplined, up to and 

including discharge. 

9.7: Maine Family Medical Leave 

If not eligible for FMLA, an employee may qualify for Maine Family Meical Leave (MFML). 

To be eligible under MFML, an employee is required to have worked for the Town for 12 

consecutive months. Under the Maine Family Medical Leave Act, employees are (1) eligible for 

10 work weeks of unpaid FML (2) during a two year period (3)for the employee’s serious health 

condition, the birth or adoption of a child, including a domestic partner’s child, the serious health 

condition of a child or grandchild, domestic partner’s child and grandchild, domestic partner or 

spouse, sibling, or death of an employee’s spouse, domestic partner, parent, sibling, or child who 

is a covered service member who dies while eon active duty.  

Request for MFML will be analyzed under both Main and Federal FMLA. 

9.8: Parental Leave 

Regular Full-Time or Regular Part-Time employees who have completed one full year of 

employment with the Town will be eligible for an additional twelve (12) weeks of paid leave 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 47 

upon the birth or adoption of their child and/or children to be used concurrently with Family 

Medical Leave if applicable. Such time shall be used in addition to the employee’s current Paid 

Time Off (PTO) balance. Parental Leave expires twelve (12) weeks after the date of birth or 

placement.  

Requests for paid parental leave shall be submitted to the Supervisor/Department Head or Town 

Manager (or Designee). Requests shall be made in a timely manner at least 30 days prior to the 

proposed date of leave (or if the leave was not foreseeable, as soon as possible). All Approved 

requests for Parental Leave will be submitted by the authorizing Supervisor/Department Head to 

the Finance Department for payroll purposes. 

Employees will receive no more than twelve (12) weeks paid parental leave. Employees may 

elect to use PTO accruals in excess of the 12 weeks paid parental leave granted and with 

approval from the Supervisor/Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) 

9.9: Bereavement 

All Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees shall receive bereavement leave as 

provided by the town. In the event of the death of an employee’s spouse, legally recognized 

partner, children, mother, father, or legal guardian, the employee shall be granted five (5) days’ 

leave of absence, with full pay, to make household and service arrangements and attend death 

services. In the event of the death of an employee’s sister, brother, stepparents, stepchildren, 

grandmother, grandfather, spouse’s grandparents or grandchildren, father-in-law, mother-in-law, 

sister in-law, or brother in-law, the employee shall be granted up to three (3) days’ leave for 

absence, with full pay, to make household adjustments and arrange for or attend the death 

services. For relatives other than mentioned above, such as aunt, uncle, niece, nephew or first 

cousin, the employee may use available personal time, Paid Tim Off (PTO), or Earned Paid 

Leave (EPL) for absences. The employee may be required to furnish their immediate supervisor 

with proof of death.  

9.10: Jury Duty 

Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time employees who are called for jury duty should 

promptly notify their Supervisor/ Department Head or Town Manager (or Designee) to ensure 

appropriate arrangements are made. The employee will receive his or her regular paycheck and 

are required to forward payments received for their jury duty to the Department of Finance, with 

the exception of mileage reimbursement. This procedure will compensate employees for any 

difference in pay. Employees excused from jury duty must report back to work if it is during 

their normal working hours.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 48 

9.11: Life Threatening Illness 

In the event an employee submits a physician’s certification to the Town Manager (or Designee) 

that the employee has a life-threatening illness an is expected to result in premature death, the 

Town Manager (or Designee) may make an exception to the existing sick leave and PTO/EPL 

sections of this Personnel Policy Handbook and pay the employee’s entire accrual record to the 

employee.  

9.12: Absent Without Leave 

An employee absent from work for five (5) consecutive days without approved leave shall be 

absent without leave. The employee shall be considered terminated after written notice, by the 

Town Manager (or Designee), to the employee (or the employee’s last known address).  

SECTION 10:  

REIMBURSEMENT OF EXPENSES 

10.1: Mileage Compensation (Note: Repeal former, separate policy adopted 1/2/24) 

Employees required to drive personal vehicles for approved, legitimate municipal purposes shall 

be compensated by the Town at the amounts set by the IRS Per Diem daily rates (when 

government rates are available), the IRS mileage reimbursement rate, or another rate agreed to 

by the Town Manager (or Designee). Compensation may be approved as a “reimbursement” 

under an Accountable Plan. Elected Officials, Volunteers, and those appointed to Boards, 

Committees, or Commissions are excluded from mileage compensation benefits unless otherwise 

approved by the Town Manager (or Designee) for specific purposes, excluding regular meetings. 

Employees will be paid by an approved appropriation in the departmental budget. The 

appropriation will be in the best interest of the Town. Travel will be accomplished at the least 

cost to the Town. Expenses incurred in excess of the approved appropriation will be subject to 

approval by the Town Manager (or Designee). 

Accountable Plan – Mileage Reimbursement: 

Eligible mileage reimbursement will be granted at the prevailing IRS rate per mile if using 

personal vehicles for approved business-related travel. Home to office travel is not compensable. 

The Town shall reimburse employees for business travel at the lesser of (a.) mileage from home 

to destination (excluding “normal place of business”. For the purpose of this policy, “normal 

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 49 

place of business” shall mean the location the employee works on a day-to-day basis), or (b.) 

mileage from normal place of business to destination.  

Employees are responsible for documenting all travel logs on the official mileage reimbursement 

log approved by the Town Manager (or Designee). All travel logs shall be submitted to the Town 

Manager for approval on a monthly basis. At the discretion of the Town Manager (or Designee), 

travel logs may be submitted on a every other month or quarterly basis and such requests will be 

reviewed on a case-by-case basis.  

10.2: Meals, Lodging and Other Expenses 

Meals: 

The Town will reimburse employees for meal expenses incurred in the event of long-term 

arrangements, such as the necessity for overnight lodging (i.e: attending training beyond the 

employee’s residency where travel to and from would create an unreasonable burden on the 

employee). The employee must furnish all detailed meal receipts for reimbursement (a summary 

of the total paid will not be accepted). The Town will reimburse up to $40 per meal. The Town 

will not reimburse for the items: 

• Sales Tax

• Alcoholic beverages, movies, admissions and personal incidental expenses that may be

incurred while traveling for work-related purposes but are not otherwise related to or

necessary for the performance of work.

The Town does not encourage employees to purchase any goods or services for the Town. 

However, under certain circumstances, such as emergencies or unusual events an employee may 

make appropriate purchases upon approval of the Town Manager (or Designee) and provided 

that other means of the Town’s Purchasing Procedure was not reasonable given the 

circumstances.  

10.3: Parking Fees and Tolls 

Employees will be reimbursed for parking fees and tolls provided that the cost was incurred 

during travel for legitimate Town business. The employee shall document such fee(s) incurred 

with their travel logs and additionally shall furnish all appropriate receipts. The Town will not 

reimburse employees for parking tickets and/or motor vehicle violations or infractions.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 50 

10.4: Reimbursement Procedure 

Employees shall submit any required official forms with attached receipts, if applicable, no later 

than thirty (30) days to the Town Manager (or Designee) for approval.  

SECTION 11:  

MISCELLANEOUS 

11.1: Freedom of Access Act Policy 

All employees are expected to adhere to the Town’s Freedom of Access Act Policy entitled 

“Town of Lyman, Maine Policy Governing Access to Public Records Under the Freedom of 

Accesses Act”. Refer to this policy for procedural details.  

Additionally, all Town records, whether classified as public or confidential, are the property of 

the Town of Lyman including but not limited to; final and/or draft form documents; emails either 

sent, received, junk, draft, or deleted; audio and/or video recordings; any data, text, and 

voicemail on Town cellular devices, historical records, and any other record required to be 

maintained in accordance to the Maine State Archives Local Government Record Retention 

Schedules. All Town records will be maintained in accordance with State and Federal law.  

Training: Any employee required by State law Title 1 M.R.S sec. 412 shall complete the 

minimum requirements of training within 120 days of their oath of office. If the oath is annual, 

then the training must be completed annually.  

No employee shall destroy and/or permanently remove any record of the Town either knowingly 

or unknowingly and any violation will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 

termination. Any employee found in violation shall be responsible for the cost for recreation 

and/or replacement of said documents.  

11.2: Severability 

If any provision of this Personnel Policy Handbook to any person or circumstance(s) is held 

invalid, this invalidity does not affect other provisions or applications of the Employee Personnel 

Policy Handbook which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application. For this 

purpose, the Employee Personnel Policy is severable.  DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 51 

11.3: Amendments & Interpretation 

The Town of Lyman reserves the right to unilaterally amend, delete, modify or change these 

polices without prior notice and at any time for any reason. The Town Manager (or Designee) 

and Town Select Board shall have exclusive and final authority to interpret these polices.  

11.4: Definitions 

Appointed Official: Anyone appointed to a board or committee to perform duties in the capacity 

of that board or committee.  

Employee: An individual working for the Town on a permanent or temporary basis drawing wage 

or a stipend from the Town.  

Financial Interest: A direct or indirect interest having monetary or pecuniary value, including, 

but not limited to, the ownership of shares of stock.  

Immediate Family: Spouse, children, parents, siblings, including step, half, and in-law relations, 

a domestic partner of a Town official, or persons sharing the same household and intermingling 

financial assets with a Town official.  

Special Interest: Any interest which will allow some form of personal gain, usually pecuniary in 

nature.  

Town Official: Any elected, appointed, volunteer, or employee of the Town that in their capacity 

serve a role in the functions or business operations of the municipality or provide any such services 

related to municipal affairs. 

Volunteer: Anyone conducting specific business and/or duties on behalf of the Town as delegated 

by the Town Manager or Select Board either on a temporary or permanent basis and does not 

receive wage or stipend from the Town.  

DRAFT



____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Page | 52 

This revised policy supersedes any and all other Personnel policies adopted and/or revised 

prior to ______date 

Adopted: April 16, 1990 

Revised: September 2, 1997 

Revised: September 6, 1999 

Revised: March 6, 2000 

Revised: August 28, 2002 

Revised: July 5, 2005 

Amended: September 6, 2005 

Amended: September 2, 2008 

Amended: March 1, 2010 

Amended: June 20, 2011 

Amended: August 15, 2011 

Amended: March 2, 2015 

Amended: May 15, 2017 

Amended: September 17, 2018 

Amended: April 16, 2019 

Revised: ______Date 

Revision/Amendment adopted and signed by a majority of the Select Board 

on this _______ day of ___________, _________: 

______________________________________Ralph “Rusty” Blackington - Chair 

______________________________________Thomas Hatch – Vice Chair 

______________________________________Jessica Picard 

______________________________________Amber Swett 

______________________________________Victoria Gavel 

A Majority of the Board of Selectpersons 

Lyman, Maine 

DRAFT



TOWN OF LYMAN 

CORPORATE RESOLUTION TO OPEN AND MANAGE INVESTMENT ACCOUNTS 

RESOLVED: That the following named individuals shall have authority to establish, manage, or 

close, in the name of the Town of Lyman, one or more deposit accounts with any commercial 

banks, savings institutions or credit unions meeting requirements of the Town of Lyman’s 

investment policy, upon such terms and conditions as may be agreed upon with said financial 

institution and following named persons: 

Print Name: Jeanette Lemay 

Signature ____________________________________ 

Title: Treasurer 

Print Name: Lindsay Gagne 

Signature: ____________________________________ 

Title: Deputy Treasurer 

Print Name: Rebekah Thompson 

Signature: ___________________________________ 

Title: Deputy Treasurer 

Funds withdrawn from said accounts shall be payable to the Town of Lyman. Certification by the 

Clerk to this Organization as to the above signatures shall be binding upon the Town of Lyman. 

All authorizations shall remain in effect until the institution receives written notice of revocation 

at the office where this account is maintained.  

I hereby certify that the foregoing or attached resolution is a full, true, and correct copy of the 

resolution adopted by the Select Board at a meeting of said Select Board held on February 5th, 

2024, and that the signatures of the persons duly authorized to establish and dispose of funds of 

said organization in accordance with said resolution.  

_______________________________________ Dated:_______________________ 

Susan Bellerose 

Town Clerk 

Town of Lyman, Maine 

Town Seal 

DRAFT
ITEM #7: (i.) Resolution to manage accounts policy



This CORPORATE RESOLUTION TO OPEN AND MANAGE INVESTTMENT ACCOUNTS 

was adopted at the February 5th 2024 Select Board’s meeting and may be referred to in the Select 

Board meeting minutes.  

_______________________________________________ 

Ralph “Rusty” Blackington, Chair 

_______________________________________________ 

Thomas Hatch, Vice Chair 

_______________________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 

_______________________________________________ 

Amber Swett 

_______________________________________________ 

Victoria Gavel 

Signed by a majority of Select Board members 

Town of Lyman, Maine  DRAFT


	TOL Personnel Policy DRAFT.pdf
	Blank Page




